Wiltshire Council
R ————

AGENDA

Meeting: Western Area Planning Committee

Place: Council Chamber - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN
Date: Wednesday 18 December 2019

Time: 3.00 pm

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Jessica Croman, of Democratic Services,
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718262 or email
jessica.croman@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115.

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk

Membership:

CliIr Christopher Newbury (Chairman) ClIr Sarah Gibson
ClIr Jonathon Seed (Vice-Chairman)  Clir Edward Kirk

ClIr Trevor Carbin CliIr Stewart Palmen
CliIr Ernie Clark CliIr Pip Ridout
Cllr Andrew Davis Cllr Suzanne Wickham

CliIr Peter Fuller

Substitutes:

Clir David Halik Clir Steve Oldrieve
ClIr Russell Hawker Clir Toby Sturgis

Cllr George Jeans Clir lan Thorn

ClIr Nick Holder ClIr Philip Whitehead
Cllr Gordon King Cllr Graham Wright

Clir Jim Lynch



http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/

Recording and Broadcasting Information

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the
Council’'s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv. At the start of the meeting, the
Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and
sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council.

By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of
those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes.

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.

Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in
relation to any such claims or liabilities.

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here .

Parking

To find car parks by area follow this link. The three Wiltshire Council Hubs where most
meetings will be held are as follows:

County Hall, Trowbridge
Bourne Hill, Salisbury
Monkton Park, Chippenham

County Hall and Monkton Park have some limited visitor parking. Please note for
meetings at County Hall you will need to log your car’s registration details upon your
arrival in reception using the tablet provided. If you may be attending a meeting for more
than 2 hours, please provide your registration details to the Democratic Services Officer,
who will arrange for your stay to be extended.

Public Participation

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of
questions and statements for this meeting.

For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution.

The full constitution can be found at this link.

For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for
details

Page 2


http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=14031
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/parkingtransportandstreets/carparking/findacarpark.htm?area=Trowbridge
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/documents/s153103/Part04RulesofProcedure.pdf
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13386&path=0

AGENDA
Part |
Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public
Apologies
To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting.
Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 8)

To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 20
November 2019.

Declarations of Interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by
the Standards Committee.

Chairman's Announcements
To receive any announcements through the Chair.
Public Participation

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.

Statements

Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register by phone,
email or in person no later than 2.50pm on the day of the meeting.

The rules on public participation in respect of planning applications are detailed
in the Council’s Planning Code of Good Practice. The Chairman will allow up to
3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against an application and up to 3
speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each speaker will be given up to 3
minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to the item being considered.

Members of the public will have had the opportunity to make representations on
the planning applications and to contact and lobby their local member and any
other members of the planning committee prior to the meeting. Lobbying once
the debate has started at the meeting is not permitted, including the circulation
of new information, written or photographic which have not been verified by
planning officers.

Questions

To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular,
guestions on non-determined planning applications.

Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such

Page 3



guestions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than
5pm on (4 clear working days, e.g. Wednesday of week before a Wednesday
meeting) in order to be guaranteed of a written response. In order 10 December
2019 to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no later than
5pm on 12 December 2019. Please contact the officer named on the front of this
agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without notice if the
Chairman decides that the matter is urgent.

Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website.

Planning Appeals and Updates (Pages 9 - 10)

To receive details of completed and pending appeals and other updates as
appropriate.

Planning Applications

To consider and determine the following planning applications.

7a 19/06790/FUL - Land at Unit 8 Atworth Business Park (Pages 11 -
70)
7b 19/07428/LBC: 2d Timbrell Street, Trowbridge (Pages 71 - 84)

Urgent Items
Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be
taken as a matter of urgency.

Part Il

Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed

Page 4



Wiltsrire Council

~——-~_ Where everybody matters

WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF THE WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD
ON 20 NOVEMBER 2019 AT COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNTY HALL,
TROWBRIDGE BA14 8JN.

Present:

CliIr Christopher Newbury (Chairman), Cllr Jonathon Seed (Vice-Chairman),
ClIr Trevor Carbin, ClIr Ernie Clark, Clir Andrew Davis, ClIr Peter Fuller,

Clir Edward Kirk, ClIr Stewart Palmen, CliIr Pip Ridout and Clir Gordon King
(Substitute)

Also Present:

Clir Horace Prickett, Clir Andrew Bryant and Clir Suzanne Wickham

65 Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from CllIr Sarah Gibson, who was
substituted by Clir Gordon King and ClIr Darren Henry.
66 Minutes of the Previous Meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 23 October 2019 were presented.
Resolved:

To approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the meeting held
on 23 October 2019.

67 Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting.
68 Chairman's Announcements

There were no Chairman’s Announcements.

The Chairman gave details of the exits to be used in the event of an
emergency.
69 Public Participation

No questions had been received from councillors or members of the public.

Page 5



70

71

The Chairman welcomed all present. He then explained the rules of public
participation and the procedure to be followed at the meeting.
Planning Appeals and Updates

An update on planning appeals and decisions was received during the period
11 October to 8 November 2019.

Mr F Morland, a resident of Chapmanslade, during the public participation,
referred to the documented enforcement appeal set out within item 6 of the
agenda and informed the committee of another lodged appeal at Semington
which is pending consideration and follows on from two recent dismissed
appeals. Mr Morland also referenced to the dismissed enforcement appeal
pursuant to the unauthorised use of a building at Fairfield Farm, Southwick
which followed on from a refused certificate of lawfulness application and that
as part of the appeal, the Council had applied for a costs award which was
allowed by the appointed planning inspector. On a separate point, Mr Morland
voiced his ongoing difficulties with obtaining access to enforcement notice
documentation through the Council’'s public access portal. In response, the
Development Management Area Team Leader acknowledged Mr Morland’s
request and advised that he would raise this issue with the Head of Service.

The Development Management Area Team Leader also informed the
committee of a correction to the referenced Fairfield appeal set out within item
6; and, provided a brief outline of the case.

Resolved:

To note the contents of the update.

Planning Applications

The Committee considered the following applications:
71a 19-02724-FUL - 212 The Common, Holt, BA14 6QN

Public Participation

Mr Peter Auburn, a local resident, spoke in objection to the application.
Ms Elsa Joyce, a local resident, spoke in objection to the application.
Mr Simon Norris, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.

The Committee received a presentation from the Development Management
Area Team Leader which set out the main issues in respect of the application.
He drew attention to the decision of the Committee at its last meeting to defer
consideration of the application to this meeting pending the holding of a
Member site visit, which had been held earlier that afternoon.

The purpose of the report was to assess the merits of the proposal against the
policies of the Development Plan and other material considerations and to
consider the recommendation that the application be approved, subject to
conditions.

Page 6



Members then had the opportunity to ask technical questions after which they
heard statements from members of the public as detailed above.

Members then heard the views of Clir Trevor Carbin, as local Member, who
objected to the proposal as he considered that it conflicted with Core Policy 57,
paragraph (vii) which stated that “having regard to the compatibility of adjoining
buildings and uses, the impact on the amenities of existing occupants, and
ensuring that appropriate levels of amenity are achievable within the
development itself, including the consideration of privacy, overshadowing,
vibration, and pollution (e.g. light intrusion, noise, smoke, fumes, effluent, waste
or litter)”. He thereupon proposed that permission be refused for this reason but
the proposal was not seconded and thereupon fell.

During discussion, Members expressed general support for the proposal but did
consider that an additional planning condition should be included to remove
permitted development rights for any additional windows, doors or other form of
openings other than those shown on the approved plans, being inserted in the
side elevations of the extension.

Thereupon on the proposal of Cllr Jonathon Seed, which was seconded by Clir
Andrew Davis,

Resolved:
To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:-

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

2. No development shall commence on site beyond slab level until the
exact details and samples of the materials to be used for the external
walls have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.

REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and the
matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in
an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual amenity and the character
and appearance of the area.

3. The slate to be used in the development hereby permitted shall

match the existing building in terms of their material, colour, texture,
profile and pattern of laying.

Page 7



REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and
appearance of the area.

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order
revoking or re-enacting or amending that Order with or without
modification), no windows, doors or other form of openings other than
those shown on the approved plans, shall be inserted in the side
elevations of the development hereby permitted.

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy.

5. Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied the
windows in the North East elevation and South West Elevation serving the
bathroom and en-suite shall be glazed with obscure glazing only and to an
obscurity level of no less than level 3; and the windows shall be
maintained with obscure glazing in perpetuity.

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy.

6. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans:

Plans annotated as Existing, Proposed Extension received by the Local
Planning Authority on 3rd September 2019.

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

71b  19/07073/FUL - Land south of Stourton Farm, Westbury Road,
Steeple Ashton, Trowbridge BA14 6DE

Public Participation
Mr Roy Clarke, a local resident, spoke in objection to the application.
Mr Simon Croft, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

The Committee received a presentation from the Case Officer which set out the
main issues in respect of the application. The purpose of the report was to
assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the Development Plan
and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation that the
application be approved, subject to conditions.

Members then had the opportunity to ask technical questions after which they
heard statements from members of the public as detailed above.

Page 8



Members then heard the views of Clir Horace Prickett, as local Member, who
stated that he supported the views of West Ashton Parish Council especially
regarding the scale of the proposed development, for which planning
permission was being applied for retrospectively and appeared to be larger than
what was approved in 2015.

During discussion, the sensitivities of the neighbours were appreciated but it
was noted that the application was in line with agricultural legislation.

Thereupon on the proposal of Cllr Jonathon Seed, which was seconded by Clir
Stewart Palmen,

Resolved:
To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:-

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with the following approved plans:

Location/block plan scale 1:2500/1:500 Dwg no. 2379/1 A
Proposed plans and elevations scale 1:100 Dwg no. 2379/2

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

2. The development hereby approved shall only be used for the
purposes of agriculture and the storage of agricultural equipment and
material and for no other purpose.

REASON: In the interests of the appearance of the site and the amenities
of the area.

3. No materials, goods, plant, machinery, equipment, finished or
unfinished products/parts of any description, skips, crates, containers,
waste or any other item whatsoever shall be placed, stacked, deposited or
stored outside the building hereby approved.

REASON: In the interests of the appearance of the site and the amenities
of the area.

4, No external lighting shall be installed on the building hereby
approved or within its curtilage until full details showing the type of light
appliance, the height and position of fitting, illumination levels and light
spillage in accordance with the appropriate Environmental Zone
standards set out by the Institute of Lighting Professionals in their
publication “Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light
GNO01:2011 have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The approved lighting shall be installed and shall be

Page 9



maintained in accordance with the approved details and no additional
external lighting shall be installed.

REASON: In the interests of the amenities of the area and to minimise
unnecessary light spillage above and outside the development site

71c  19/06545/FUL - 23 and 23A Wiltshire Drive, Trowbridge, BA14 ORR

The Committee received a presentation from the Case Officer which set out the
main issues in respect of the application. The purpose of the report was to
assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the Development Plan
and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation that the
application be approved, subject to conditions.

Members then had the opportunity to ask technical questions after which they
heard the views of Clir Andrew Bryant, the local Member. He supported the
views of Trowbridge Town Council who objected to the proposal on the grounds
that it would result in significant adverse impact on the amenity of residents’
neighbouring properties. Furthermore, the Town Council did not consider that
sufficient parking facilities had been provided.

During discussion, Members expressed concern that some unauthorised
parking had been taking place on open spaces in front of some properties and
requested that the Council’s Enforcement Team be asked to investigate.

Thereupon on the proposal of Cllir Jonathon Seed, which was seconded by Clir
Stewart Palmen,

Resolved:
To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:-

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration
of three years from the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans:

Revised Site Location Plan, Revised Existing Elevation Plan and Revised
Proposed Elevation Plan — all received on 9 October 2019

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

Page 10



72

3.The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of
the development hereby permitted shall match in material, colour and
texture those used in the existing building.

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order
revoking or re-enacting or amending that Order with or without
modification), no windows, doors or other form of openings other than
those shown on the approved plans, shall be inserted in the north eastern
side elevation above ground floor ceiling level of the development hereby
permitted.

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy.
INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:

The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may
represent chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure
Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL Charging
Schedule. If the development is determined to be liable for CIL, a Liability
Notice will be issued notifying you of the amount of CIL payment due. If
an Additional Information Form has not already been submitted, please
submit it now so that we can determine the CIL liability. In addition, you
may be able to claim exemption or relief, in which case, please submit the
relevant form so that we can determine your eligibility. The CIL
Commencement Notice and Assumption of Liability must be submitted to
Wiltshire Council prior to commencement of development. Should
development commence prior to the CIL Liability Notice being issued by
the local planning authority, any CIL exemption or relief will not apply and
full payment will be required in full and with immediate effect. Should you
require further information or to download the CIL forms please refer to
the Council's Website

www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communit
vinfrastructurelevy

INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:

The applicant is advised to take careful note of the fact that this planning
permission does not extend to approving the unauthorised driveway and
parking provision that has been created off the adopted C’ class public
highway at the front of the property. By way of an additional note to this
informative, the committee with the full support of the local ward member,
instructed planning officers to refer the unauthorised works to the
planning enforcement team.

Urgent ltems

Page 11


http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy

There were no Urgent Items.

(Duration of meeting: 3.00 - 4.30 pm)

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Jessica Croman of Democratic
Services, direct line 01225 718262, e-mail jessica.croman@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115

Page 12



Wiltshire Council

Western Area Planning Committee

18" December 2019

Planning Appeals Received between 08/11/2019 and 06/12/2019

Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL or | Appeal Type Officer Appeal Overturn
COMM Recommend Start Date | at Cttee
19/04504/FUL Siennas Valley Farm CHAPMANSLADE | Extension to agricultural building. DEL Written Refuse 26/11/2019 No
Huntenhull Lane Representations
Chapmanslade
BA13 4AS
19/05530/FUL 15 Elms Cross Drive BRADFORD ON Roof lifted and reconfigured to form first | DEL House Holder Refuse 18/11/2019 No
Bradford On Avon AVON floor accommodation, side and front Appeal
Wiltshire, BA15 2EH extensions, new parking and associated
landscaping
19/06410/FUL 31 Summerleaze TROWBRIDGE Retrospective application for a wooden DEL House Holder Refuse 25/11/2019 No
Trowbridge, Wiltshire fence standing 1.8 metres Appeal
BA14 9HY
Planning Appeals Decided between 08/11/2019 and 06/12/2019
Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL Appeal Type Officer Appeal Decision Costs
or Recommend | Decision | Date Awarded?
- COMM
18/193'59/FUL 93 Sand Street LONGBRIDGE Demolition of existing DEL Written Reps Refuse Dismissed | 20/11/2019 | None
(@] Longbridge Deverill DEVERILL outbuilding and erection of a
D Wiltshire, BA12 7DS single dwelling and detached
[ garage
18/10990/FUL 6 St Marys Lane DILTON MARSH | Single storey rear extension DEL Written Reps Refuse Dismissed | 02/12/2019 | None
Dilton Marsh, BA13 4BL with side porch.
18/11763/LBC 6 St Marys Lane DILTON MARSH | Single storey rear extension DEL Written Reps Refuse Dismissed | 02/12/2019 | None
Dilton Marsh, BA13 4BL with side porch.

9 wa)| epuaby




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 7a

REPORT FOR WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

| Date of Meeting 18 December 2019

Application Number 19/06790/FUL

Site Address Unit 8 Atworth Business Park, Bath Road, Wiltshire, BA12 OAN
Proposal Retrospective change of use to B8 use and proposed extension to

existing building (also for B8 use), landscaping and associated works
Applicant Braemon Holdings, Doric House, Merling Way

Town/Parish Council ATWORTH

Electoral Division MELKSHAM WITHOUT NORTH - Clir Phil Alford
Grid Ref 386,762 165,787

Type of application Full Planning o

Case Officer David Cox

Reason for the application being considered by Committee

Clir Phil Aliford has requested that should officers be minded to approve this application, it should
be brought before the elected members of the area planning committee to consider the impacts
on: visual amenity, neighbouring properties and highway safety; and the application’s
conformity with Core Policy 34

1.

Purpose of Report

Having assessed the merits of the proposed development and tested it against the policies of the

d
s
s

evelopment plan and other material considerations, officers recommend that the application
hould be approved subject to conditions and the existing s106, that binds the entire business park,
hould be varied accordingly.

2. Report Summary
The main issues discussed in this report are:

The Principle of the Development (and the impact on neighbouring amenity
Impact on Ecology

Impact on the Visual Amenity

S106 Agreement Variations

Parish Council — Supportive (please refer to section 7)
Neighbours — 30 representation letters received from 17 local residents (please refer to section

8).

3. Site Description

The application site - developed out of the former Dowty Engineering site which had operated since
the 1930’s - became the Atworth Business Park in the late 1990s. Units 8 and 9 comprise a pair
of semi-detached buildings which were granted permission in 1993 (under reference
W/93/00116/0OUT) with reserved matters approved in 1997 (reference W/97/01026/REM).

Page 15



The buildings are constructed of a red brick base with a light grey profile sheeting above and a
grey steel profile-sheeting roof. The current unit has a gross internal area of 1250 square metres
including a mezzanine level.

Unit 9 - currently occupied by Leafield Marine Ltd - gained planning permission in 2017 (reference
16/09685/FUL) for an extension into the former Dowty Playing fields to the rear of the site — which
the plan below left illustrates (extending in a western direction). This unit is immediately adjacent
to unit 8 — which is the subject of this application. The 2017 approved extension is nearing
completion.

The two plan inserts illustrate the relationships and proximity that established Business Park has
with numerous residential properties, and most notably for the purposes of this application, No.29a
and No.30 Bath Road — which are located immediately to the west of Units 6-7; and to the north
and north-west of the application site.

V7
=y '____I"‘.i‘t :
[ sHisng Lk

it S

1199

4, Planning History

W/93/00116/OUT - General industrial building on land to rear, and office block to existing unit,
demolition of sports pavilion — Granted permission including a s106 agreement to keep the units
under B1 and B2 use but to also ensure that the adjacent (westem field) was retained for private
sporting/recreational use. Note: A copy of the s106 legal agreement is appended to this report.

W/97/01026/REM - Erection of industrial building and associated site works — Approved

W/98/01498/EUL - Erection of entrance wing to existing unit and revisions to approved car
parking/turning areas - Approved

17/05785/FUL - Extension to B8 commercial building, service road extension, landscaping and
associated drainage works — Refused under delegated powers on ecology grounds only for the
following reason:

There is the potential for the site and/or surrounding land to support protected wildlife species —
notably great crested newts and bats.

Although the application is accompanied by an ecological report, this is deficient in terms of the
scope of survey and assessment, and the recommendations put forward (including mitigation
measures), to minimise the potential for adverse impacts upon ecology as a result of the proposed
works. Furthermore, there are a number of significant omissions in the report, it is not in line with

Page 16



industry best practice standards and contains out of date references. Therefore, the Council has
not been provided with adequate evidence and assurances that ecology has been suitably
assessed through an appropriate level of survey for the purposes of formulating a robust and
sufficient approach to mitigation. This is contrary to Core Policy 50 (‘Biodiversity and Geodiversity’)
of the Wiltshire Core Strategy 2015.

It is important to note that the principle of the extension and its physical appearance were
considered to be acceptable as part of the Council’'s appraisal of the above application.

18/04589/FUL — Extension to existing building (use class B8), extension to service road,
landscaping and associated works — Refused at Planning Committee on 11 May 2018 which was
subsequently dismissed at appeal (under appeal ref: APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228) Note: A copy of
the appeal decision is also appended to this report.

It should be noted that in 2018, the Council was content that the ecology reason for refusal that
was applied in 2017, had been overcome and that the physical appearance of the building was
acceptable. However, the Committee refused the 2018 application for the reasons as set out below.

1 The proposed development lies outside of the Limits of Development brought forward
for Atworth from the West Wiltshire Local Plan and retained in the Wiltshire Core
Strategy. The proposal therefore conflicts with polices CP1 and CP2 of the Wiltshire
Core Strategy which do not permit development outside these limits, other than that
permitted by other polices in the Wiltshire Core Strategy. Whilst these other polices
include CP34, the proposal does not comply with the criteria set out in that policy, for
the reasons set out in 2 below.

2 The proposed development does not comply with Core Policy 34. In particular, the
extension is not considered essential to the wider strategic interest of the economic
development of Wiltshire; and the construction and use of the proposed road
extension and turning head, coming so close to the adjacent residential property, will
have an adverse impact on the amenity that residents of that property can reasonably
expect to enjoy. The proposal is therefore not considered to be sustainable
development.

No 293 garden

Refused Site Plan for 18/04589/FUL

Page 17



o (O @ omTT g |

5 | —

T oo | 'j
Refused North Elevation for 18/04589/FUL

IT-

For the adjoining unit No. 9, planning permission was granted in application 16/09685/FUL for a
two-storey extension with replacement single storey lean-to structures; additional car parking &
roadworks; landscaping; drainage and associated works on 10 January 2017. A planning condition
restricted its use to B1 use — a development which is currently nearing completion.

At the time of the submission of the 18/04589/FUL application, the extension at Unit 9 had not
commenced on site, which explains why the extension does not appear on the proposed block plan
drawing on the previous page. However, to illustrate the consented extension to Unit 9 and the
proposed addition to Unit 8, the insert below left should be appraised.

5. The Proposal

This application proposal seeks planning permission to construct an extension on the western
gable of Unit 8. The extension would be approximately 18-metres long and 20-metres wide and
would square the building off with the extension currently being completed at Unit 9. The proposal
no longer proposes a new service road or turning provision between unit 8 and No. 29a Bath Road,
and the proposed development would not have a new vehicular wall opening on the extended north
elevation — which were elements that formed part of the refused 2018 application — sitedabove.

Five new parking spaces would be created at the end of the existing service road (spaces
numbered 16-20). Spaces 16-18 would convert an existing grass strip alongside Unit 8 and spaces
19 and 20 would be at the end of the existing road itself. The application would also remove the
existing bund and relocate it — approximately 30 metres from the existing gable of Unit8.

The applicant’s submitted Landscape Assessment proposes to provide a 1.8m high landscaped
bund. The plan also shows the retention of some existing landscaping, which understood to be the
thicket with the adjoining property at No 29a Bath Road.

Proposed Site Layout

Page 18



=

MEATS TS [ ]

Proposed North Elevation

This application also seeks to regularise the B8 use of unit 8. This is required given that the use of
Unit 8 (with or without the proposed extension) is restricted by a legal agreement that bound the
approval of W/93/00116/OUT which limited the use of the business park to B1 and B2 uses only.
There is no record of any permitted B8 use in the planning history for unit 8.

Any approval for Unit 8 to be used for B8 purposes would require a variation to the s106 and the
recommendation to the committee as set out within section 10 reflects this additional aspect which
would suspend the issuing of any grant of planning permission until the legal paperwork is
completed.

The application description was varied by officers after the original validation exercise to accurately
reflect the planning proposal and consultees and neighbours were re-notified accordingly.

The proposed development also seeks the Council to vary the s106 by deleting the historic
reference to the provision of ‘recreation sports field’ — which has never been provided and is not
required for planning reasons.

To support this application, and in additional to a suite of plan drawings, the applicant has submitted
the following documents:

An Extended Phase 1 Ecological Survey (Stark Ecology, dated September 2019)

An Extended Phase 1 Ecological Survey (Stark Ecology, dated June 2018)

A Great Crested Newt Survey (Stark Ecology, dated April 2018)

Ecological letter regarding validity timeframe of Stark Ecology reports (Stark Ecology, dated

24 October 2019)
. Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (Brian Wooding CMLI, August 2019)
. Revised Drainage Strategy Statement

The proposed development would dispose of surface water via a sustainable drainage system.
For application 16/09685/FUL a drainage strategy was approved that restricted the discharge of
surface water to 5liper second/per hectare. This proposed development would conform to the
previously approved drainage strategy.

6. Planning Policy

Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) 2015: CP1 Settlement Strategy; CP2 Delivery Strategy; CP15
Melksham Community Area (Atworth); CP34 Additional Employment Land; CP35 Existing
Employment Sites; CP50 Biodiversity and Geodiversity; CP52 Green Infrastructure; CP57
Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping; CP60 Sustainable Transport; CP61 Transport
and Development; CP64 Demand Management; and CP67 Flood Risk

West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration, 2004
Saved Policy U1a Foul Water Disposal; Saved policy U2 Surface Water Disposal

Leisure and Recreation Development Plan Document — January 2009

The Wiltshire Car Parking Strategy

Page 19



National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

Atworth Parish Plan 2010 (updated 2015)
7. Summary of Consultation Responses

Atworth Parish Council — Supports the application subject to the wildlife bund being put in place
and planted with native planting, and that care is taken to mitigate against noise impacts for
adjacent properties.

Wiltshire Council Ecology Officer — No objection subject to conditions
Wiltshire Council Drainage Officer — No comment to make

8. Publicity

In addition to the posted-out neighbour letters to cover the two notification processes, a site notice
was displayed on a lamp post at front of the site — which resulted in 30 letters of objection/
representation (from 17 residents) with some following the same template - all of which can be
summarised as follows:

The Principle of Development:

o This application is a duplicate of 18/04589/FUL and like the dismissed appeal this
application should be refused under policies CP1, CP2 and CP34 (including sub paragraphc)
o The proposal is also contrary to policies CP55, CP60 and CP61

. The Council will be aware, and the Inspector has given a reminder, that the Council has an
obligation to be consistent in its planning decisions

° This appears to be another plan to have an extension of road access by stealth to enable
property development

o There is no need for this expansion and the existing unit is empty

° Adverse increase in traffic

o This will directly compete with strategic employment sites in more sustainable locations

@ Atworth Business Park is designed for starter units not for businesses of this size

° The Planning Inspector clearly stated in paragraph 26 that he has not considered all of the

other points of the objection which include ecology reasons. It was not solely on amenity grounds
as suggested by the applicant.

. The proposal would be of no economic and social benefit to the residents of Atworth and
will not create employment opportunities for local people

o This application is not proposed out of necessity but merely through thoughtless greed and
financial gain

o With just a personnel door to the extension this is the creation of a new unit

° There is a s106 on the land preventing this application

Ecology Impacts:

o The applicants Ecology survey is out of date — It says its only valid for 12 months and is
dated June 2018 when this application was received in July 2019

o There have been increased bat numbers and further newts have been discovered since the
last application. This proposal would be harmful to wildlife

. Atworth comes under the Bradford on Avon SAC consultation zone

. This would be contrary to Wiltshire Council’'s own campaign of “Put Wildlife First” where
wildflower sites are encouraged to be submitted to the Council

o It is not shown in the Ecology report where the Hibernacula will be located

o The Ecology survey does not show the destruction of the thicket along the fence line of 29a

Bath Road, which is important to wildlife habitat

Page 20



° Wiltshire Council declared a climate emergency in February 2019 and to address climate
changes, habitat destruction and resource depletion are issues that we should all be taking a stand
on

. The expectation of residents is that Wiltshire Council will translate their declaration into
actions

o How can a 12-month report be re-validated by a simple walk over of the site?

o Ecology protocols have not been followed

o The ecology report does not recognise the newts that neighbours find in their gardens or

grass snakes

Neighbour Amenity Impacts:

o The impact on No 29a would be enormous. The building is alien and overbearing
o The building will be within 20 metres of No 29a

. The bund will allow people to look into No 29a’s garden

o Increase in traffic noise for adjacent residents

° The bund will do little to prevent noise, dust, vision impediment

Other Issues:
° The landscaping conditions for W/93/00116/OUT was never implemented

o The Landscaping Impact Assessment includes the turning head and doesn’t include the
extension to Unit 9

Following the revision to the application description for the retrospective change of use to B8 a
fresh neighbour notification exercise was undertaken — which resulted in 7 additional letters being
received.

o This application is just being represented over and over again until residents roll over. This
will not happen

o Confusion as to why B8 is being retrospectively applied for now

° B8 use is forbidden by the existing s106

o The correct process to change the s106 is for a s106A application to be submitted

° The traffic associated with a B8 use compared to B1 or B2 would be harmful to residential
amenity

) Why has Wiltshire Council allowed the applicants to be in breach of the s106 for all this
time?
o This application will be contrary to Wiltshire Council policy to “Put Wildlife First”

. If permission is given, the conditions must be met

o The applicant cannot demonstrate that there is “no imperative reasons of overriding public
interest including those of a social or economic nature”

° The submitted ecology information is not considered sufficient

9. Planning Considerations

9a Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require that the determination of planning applications must
be made in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. In this case, the Wiltshire Core Strategy, including those policies of the West Wiltshire
District Plan that continue to be saved and enshrined within the WCS, constitutes the relevant
development plan for the Melksham area.

9.1 Principle of the Development (and the impact on neighbouring amenity)

Page 21



9.1.1 The application site (and all of the industrial units within the Business Park) are located in
‘countryside’ outside of the limits of development of Atworth (which is identified by the black line in
the image insert below).

._w\\

9.1.2 Atworth is identified as a Large Village in the Wiltshire Core Strategy and the preamble
paragraph 4.25 associated to Core Policy 2 sets out ‘exception policies’ which seek to respond to
local circumstance and national policy, which includes the provision of ‘Additional Employment
Land’ (which is covered under Core Policy 34).

9.1.3 The first part of Core Policy 34 states that: “Proposals for employment development (i.e.
uses within classes B1, B2 or B8) will be supported *within the limits of developments of Principal
Settlements and Large Villages™.

Outside the Principal Settlements, Market Towns and Local Service Centres, developments that:

i. Are adjacent to these settlements and seek to retain or expand businesses that currently located
within or adjacent to the settlements; or

ii. Support sustainable farming and food production or

ii. Are for new and existing rural based businesses within or adjacent to Large and Small Villages;
or

iv. Are considered essential to the wider strategic interest of the economic development of
Wiltshire, as determined by the Council.

9.1.4 In determining the appeal for refused application reference 18/04589/FUL (please refer to
appended appeal decision) the planning inspector appraised the extension to the business park
against Core Policy 34 and duly observed within paragraphs 7 and 10 that;

“Each criterion within the first set (i-iv) is followed by the word ‘or’, save for the last. That indicates
that whilst it is necessary for at least one of those criteria to be met, it is not necessary that more
than one or that all four are satisfied.

It seems to me that the most relevant criterion, in this case, is [criterion] fii’, which indicates that
developments will be supported that ‘are for new and existing rural based businesses within or
adjacent to Large and Small Villages.” However, the wording does not appear to indicate a
requirement to identify a specific business that is going to occupy the development or that a
business should already be in occupation. Moreover, the latter would be illogical as the policy
would equally apply to the construction of a new building. Therefore, given that the development

Page 22



would be the extension of a unit, within an existing business park, adjacent to a ‘Large Village’, the
development would be for new or existing rural based businesses’. Accordingly, | consider that the
proposal satisfies criterion fii’ of the first set of criteria.”

Under the recent appeal therefore, we have an appeal decision that confirms that the extension to
Unit 8 would satisfy criteria (iii) and the first part of CP34 is satisfied. There is no requirement to
evidence that a specific business has to be lined up to occupy the extended unit and that requiring
such confirmation would be unnecessary and unreasonable.

The representation objections that raise concermns about the need for the development without an
end user being in place, cannot be sustained.

9.1.5 The second part of Core Policy Core Policy 34 then stipulates that proposals that satisfy
the first part of the policy must then meet all following criteria (a-e) where they:

a. Meet sustainable objectives as set out in the policies of this Core Strategy; and

b. Are consistent in scale with their location, do not adversely affect nearby buildings and the
surrounding area or detract from residential amenity; and

c. Are supported by evidence that they are required to benefit the local economic and social needs;
and

d. Would not undermine the delivery of strategic employment allocations; and,

e. Are supported by adequate infrastructure.”

It should be noted that for proposals that fail to satisfy the first part of Core Policy 34, even if a
proposal satisfies the second list of criteria, the proposal would be in conflict with the Policy. In
this particular, there is no such conflict.

9.1.6 For refused application reference 18/04589/FUL the appointed planning inspector focused
on criteria (b) as that was the main dispute between the appellant and the Council (and objectors).

As set out in the planning history section of this report, the refused application sought to extend
the service road to the west and provide a hammerhead tuming area within 2m of the boundary
shared with No 29a. The 18/04589/FUL application also included a large vehicular entry on the
extended northern elevation that would have faced No 29a. Under this application, no service road
extension or hammerhead is proposed. Two new parking spaces would be provided at the end
(where the red container is in shown in the image below). This revised application also does not
propose an additional vehicle entry point on the northern elevation.

L~ S

Ex'-isnczq access road alongside Unit 8 Where the two ew spaces old be created

9.1.7 It is also considered important to note that the Inspector argued within paragraph 16 that:

Page 23



“At present, vehicle movements associated with this part of the business park (*Units 8 and 9%)
take place behind or between the buildings comprising the existing units, mitigating any effects on
nearby residential properties”.

The application has been revised so that the existing access to the unit and tuming area would
remain in the same location (on the eastern side of the building); and it is argued therefore, that
the buildings would continue to mitigate the effects of the associated business park vehicle
movements on adjacent properties, including No 29a. The northemn vehicle access is no longer
proposed, thereby removing all potential noise, fumes and dust disturbance potential to No 29a.
The only external change to the business park’s vehicle arrangements refers to the provision of
five extra car parking spaces which officers conclude would cause no harm to No 29a or any other
nearby land use/neighbour.

Eastern Elevation of units 8 and 9, and the loading area and car park

/ =="1 ]
¢ = k=
/ e H
; : il

-, | I
/:,“ - WIERE 'r'J‘ 1
//. ! 1/ \\'\ ] ::‘t
& —_— e
] ' L]

|
¥
= BRE| «]T'l— ;-1
Q0. o IVEFORD, LTD g3
S ] 5 _ 1 LR _
| == 2 R e s s Y
P | | E I | =1 h- 2 |
' - . @ : Eidhlo !
X || | Bl == 1
— Fi 48 [ ] La & § i | = 3 i ! i
i 5 Il i O O 5 31 £ r_ % o it E- ! i
[ I'*--‘ === i # i g~ £ ) SR R
''''' o= L w mﬁﬂ,qr i) e o | ol LI
A ke lou - | F I AT il 0 - .
= deolsees,y foul dain = BOUSTING SERVIE RIAD w14
— — —— - Z . oM |
].- YT T rr---r‘,\ I =
] e TR A D M 1 \’__., P
] I'L.D ‘\
LCiTaar
o Pl g
1T | _— I L g
| —— ¥,
L

Proposed Site Plan

Page 24



9.1.8 Officers acknowledge that delivery and vehicle patterns can be more intensive with a B8
use compared to B1 and B2. However, it should be noted that there have not been any
enforcement complaints on the previous ‘unauthorised’ B8 use of unit 8. Within this business
park setting, the proposed B8 use would be complementary rather than a harmful land use in the
context of the existing business park, the site operations and the nearby neighbouring domestic
properties. The applicant has informed officers that unit 8 has been used for B8 purposes for well
over 10 years. Having visited the site, officers are satisfied that the proposal would not cause
substantive harm to neighbouring amenity by means of disturbance from noise, dust or fumes.

9.1.9 Itis considered noteworthy to mention that in dismissing the appeal for 18/04589/FUL, the
planning inspector only cited noise, fumes and disturbance from commercial vehicles accessing
the appeal site and maneuvering along the proposed tuming head as being harmful to No 29a’s
“tranquil garden and patio and seating areas”. The planning inspector did not reference any
neighbouring harm created by the proposed extension to Unit 8. The proposed extension to unit
8 would be sited approximately 25 metres from the garden boundary of No 29a, which officers
submit would be an acceptable distance to not have an adverse overbearing impact; and thus,
would comply with criteria b as set out within the second part of Core Policy 34.

9.1.10 Moreover, the proposed 1.8-metre high landscaped bund and the physical gap to No 29a
would provide an adequate buffer and mitigation. Officers recommend the imposition of a
planning condition to ensure that the bund is constructed before the first occupation of the
proposed extension; and that the bund is landscaped in the first planting season following the
completion of the bund. It is submitted that this condition requirement would ensure that the bund
that has been recently made around the extension to unit 9 would be extended and completed to
enclose the extension of unit 8 and the western side of this part of the business park.

The landscaping condition would also secure and deliver essential maintenance to ensure i.e.
cutting back existing overgrown landscaping. The use of a planning condition could also secure
replacement landscaping to deliver biodiversity and landscape betterment.

9.1.11 The representation objections reference that people would be able to stand on the extended
bund and look into the garden of No 29a. The plans show that the bund would be 1.8 metres high
and would be approximately 10 metres away from the boundary and that it is proposed to be
planted with new landscaping. The proposed bund is largely the same as that which was
considered by the planning inspector for the 18/04589/FUL appeal. Officers submit that the
proposed bund would not be any closer to No 29a and with a robust landscape treatment, the likely
risks of anyone standing on the bund and detrimentally affecting third party amenity is considered
negligible.

Refused Site Layout 18/04589/FUL Proposed Site Layout Plan

Page 25



9.1.12 Officers acknowledge that public right of way ATWO014 shares the access from Bath Road
but passes to the east of the existing car parks and loading areas. It then joins onto ATW019 and
ATWO016 which passes alongside the field to which this application is extending into. Whilst the
footpaths allow for access though the Business Park and past the adjacent field, it does not allow
people a right to access to the field or the bund itself and remains private land. Therefore, the
opportunity to use the bund in which to overlook neighbouring amenity is not considered to be very
likely.

Public rights of way plan

9.1.13 Officers are satisfied that the proposed development accords with CP34 criteria b.

9.1.14 The proposal must also however, satisfy criteria a), ¢), d) and e) in order to have principle
planning support under CP34. The following passages considers each in tum ...

a) meet sustainable development objectives as set out in the policies of this core strategy:

The application site forms part of the existing business park and it is not seeking approval for a
completely new park. CP34 iii) allows for new development or rural based businesses adjacent to
large villages, and this application accords with this criterion. Atworth has immediate access to the
A365 which also has direct connectivity to the A350 and the M4 to the north and to the A4 to the
west. The proposal would help improve the facilities on offer for Unit 8 thereby appealing to a wider
range of potential occupants who in turn could offer employment opportunities to the local and
surrounding area.

c) are supported by evidence that they are required to benefit the local economic and social needs:
Officers argue that it would not be reasonable to base a refusal on existing high employment levels
in Atworth. Instead, officers recognise that there is a need for additional employment in Wiltshire
to assist with delivering the Council’s strategic objective of delivering and supporting a thriving
economy and promoting more job opportunities especially in rural locations; that could in turn,

Page 26



assist with reducing the levels of out-commuting from Atworth/the Melksham Community Area and
Wiltshire as a whole to the other employment locations such as Bath and Swindon. It follows
therefore, that proposals such as this, which provide additional employment opportunities, should
and has officer in principle support.

The Council’s economic development team have not provided any comments for this application,
but as part of their assessment of application 18/04589/FUL they provided the following
consultation response:

“ ..new industrial space is needed in the north of the county. At a recent business breakfast meeting
held by Business Insider focusing on Swindon and Wiltshire one of the topics brought up as a
constraint on business expansion was the lack of industrial units available to rent. | am also aware
of a number of companies that are looking for space in the Melksham/Chippenham area. A recent
search | conducted showed only two units available at the moment, both of which according to the
agent have attracted a lot of interest.”

Furthermore, in paragraph 13 of the appeal for 18/04589/FUL the planning inspector stated that:

“‘the appellant in the appeal before me has presented a reasonable level of evidence of demand
for business units of the size proposed, as evidenced in a letter from a commercial property agent
and other information regarding interest from local businesses”.

In paragraph 29 of the inspector’s appeal decision he concluded that:

“The proposed development would offer some benefits, including an economic benefit in the
provision of additional business and employment floorspace.”

B8 uses allow for the storage and distribution of goods; and not the making or manufacture of
goods. The timeframe associated to the storage of goods and products can vary considerably long
and, in some cases, there may not be much traffic movement associated on a daily/weekly basis
and in those situations, a B8 use can be quite passive when compared to a B1 or B2 use.
Therefore, whilst the extension might not create a single additional new job, it would in the very
least help maintain the existing business park and the level of jobs by improving the quality and
amount of space within the unit, and thereby widen the appeal of the building to a broader range
of potential businesses.

d) would not undermine the delivery of strategic employment allocations:
In determining the recent appeal for refused application 18/04589/FUL, the planning inspector
noted that:

“the appellant describes the scale of the extension as relatively modest which would limit the extent
of that *economic* benefit, relative to that already generated by the existing unit.”

The proposed extension at approximately 378sg.m (representing a 30% increase on the existing
unit) is considered comparatively small scale which would not impact the delivery of strategic
employment allocations elsewhere across the County.

e) are supported by adequate infrastructure:
The application site is supported by adequate infrastructure — i.e. roads, car parking, foul sewer
system and gas/water/electric connections.

9.1.15 On the basis of the above, the application proposal is considered to accord with Core Policy
34 and is compliant with Core Policies 1 and 2 by virtue of being a development being advanced
as part of the Council’'s adopted ‘exception policy’.

Page 27



9.1.16 The representation objections have raised concem that this is an “application by stealth”
and that the extended unit would only be accessible by an internal pedestrian door and would
therefore constitute a new unit (which will require its own separate extemal access). For the
avoidance of any doubt, internal works and alterations to the internal layout is not development
that requires planning permission. Therefore, if permission is granted the applicant can use the
internal space in any configuration they deem fit for B8 use purposes. Additionally, should the
applicant wish to extend the service road or make additional extemal alterations this would
constitute as operational development that would require further planning permission. It would also
be open to the Council to consider the necessity of restricting any new openings being created on
the proposed extended northem elevation under permitted development rights; and require a
planning application for any such works. The applicants (and the Council) are well aware of the
planning inspector’'s appeal decision that proposed having industrial activity in this location of the
application site adjacent to the garden boundary with No 29a. This current application cannot
therefore be reasonably be considered as an “application by stealth”.

9.1.17 The public representations refer to paragraph 26 of the Inspector decision which states:

“A number of objectors have raised a range of issues...including effects on protected species.
However, it is not necessary for me to consider those other matters in detail here, as | have
dismissed the appeal on other substantive grounds.”

It must be appreciated that in dismissing the appeal, the planning inspector only identified harm to
neighbouring amenity and not ecology. That said, under this fresh application, officers have re-
assessed the application’s compliance with Core Policy 50 — Biodiversity and Geodiversity along
with an up-to-date consultation with the Council’s ecologist and this is duly appraised next.

9.2 Impact on Ecology

9.2.1 Core Policy 50 requires development proposals to demonstrate how they protect features
of nature conservation and geological value as part of the design rationale. There is an expectation
that such features shall be retained and managed favourably in order to maintain their ecological
value, connectivity and functionality in the long term. All development proposals shall incorporate
measures to avoid and reduce disturbance of sensitive wildlife species and habitats throughout the
lifetime of the development.

9.2.2. Representation objections have highlighted that the applicants submitted Ecology survey
is out of date because it states that it was only valid for 12 months (as it was dated June 2018
when the application was received in July 2019). The objectors state that a new survey should be
undertaken when the protected species are known to be active i.e. next year 2020.

9.2.3 The applicant’'s Ecology consultant has since further clarified why the ‘valid for 12 months’
statement was made in their original survey which include;

- To prevent reports being used by clients in perpetuity and for evolving schemes

- The management of a site and the habitat surrounding it can change and this may have an
impact on the ecological value of a site

- Survey guidelines and available information may change and so reports and advice they
contain should be received and updated on a regular basis to ensure that remain current.

“Survey data is often considered valid and reliable for longer than 12 months and, in the case of
survey data for great crested newt population assessment, is considered to be reliable and valid
for a period of at least 2 years when applying for a Natural England great crested newt mitigation
licence. Update population assessment surveys might be recommended sooner where ecological
conditions have changed significantly, but where ponds and terrestrial habitat remain in the same
or a similar state to that when the original surveys were carried out, update population assessment
surveys would not be recommended.”

Page 28



Therefore the “valid for 12 months” comment is not based on Ecological guidelines as is a seif-
imposed restriction by the applicant’s consultant ecologist. The Council’'s ecologist has confirmed
that ecology surveys are valid for 24 months — meaning that the June 2018 survey is valid. The
Council’s ecologist has no objection to the proposal.

9.2.4 The Council’s ecologist has provided the following very detailed consultation response:

The Executive Summary to the Extended Phase 1 Ecological Survey (Stark Ecology, September
2019), hereafter referred to as ‘the Phase 1 report, provides a summary of the ecological survey
work undertaken since 2018 together with a rationale to explain the purpose of the 2019 update
survey as follows: ‘Surveys carried out during 2018 included an emergence survey for bats and
great crested newt surveys of ponds located within 500m. In September 2019 an update visit to
the site was carried out to assess any change to the condition of the site and any resulting change
in the potential of the site to support protected species.’

Bats - With respect of the survey undertaken for bats, which comprised a preliminary roost
assessment (PRA) (internal and external inspection) of Unit 8, and one dusk emergence survey in
May 2018, | am satisfied the survey method was appropriate and in accordance with best practice
survey guidelines. The PRA concluded: ‘Unit 8 is not considered to support a bat roost and no
further surveys for bats are recommended prior to works to extend the building being carried out.’
This was augmented by the emergence survey as not bats were observed emerging from the
building.

The Phase 1 report does highlight however that: ‘During the emergence survey in May 2018
commuting and foraging by common bat species was noted over the scrub and grassland to the
west of Unit 8.’ Therefore, the reports propose the following measure with respect of lighting at the
site: ‘In order to protect this resource for bats to continue to use for commuting and foraging, no
new external lighting will be installed on the western face of Unit 8, or in the turning bay. This will
avoid light spill onto the field to the west (and beyond) and allow bats to continue to use the site
when commuting and foraging through the wider landscape.’

The proposal to not install new external lighting is advocated in order reduce potential for light spill
on to areas of adjacent habitat that are used by commuting and foraging bats, and habitat to be
created within the application site, primarily the native tree and shrub planting, that should serve
as suitable foraging habitat in the long term. The response from the Council's ecology team to
application 18/04589/FUL requested a condition requiring no new external artificial lighting at the
application site. Similarly, the condition pertaining to lighting set out under the respective
heading below should be included within the planning permission.

In addition, the Design and Access Statement (DAS), Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
(LVIA) and Site Layout Plan (Drawing no. VL.2019/10/06, Rev. 19 August 2019) proposes the
creation of a replacement 1.8m high embankment which will be enhanced by the planting of native
trees and shrub, and the slopes and top of the bank will be sown with a wildflower grassland mix
(Emorsgate E12). It is expected that this will provide a benefit for wildlife longer term, including
commuting and foraging bats.

Reptiles - The Phase 1 report identifies that: ‘The site supports suitable habitats (grassland and
scrub) for use by common reptile species and there is a recent record (May 2018) of a grass snake
within 100m.’ It goes on to conclude: It is assumed that a population of common reptile species is
present within the development area.’

Therefore, a mitigation strategy for reptiles is proposed within the Phase 1 report which will entail
translocating reptiles from the proposed development area and will be undertaken alongside the

Page 29



mitigation strategy proposed for great crested newt (discussed later in this response). | am
satisfied this approach is appropriate and request inclusion of the condition set out later in
this response.

Nesting birds - In terms of breeding birds, the Phase 1 report states: ‘Little vegetation that is
suitable for nesting birds has been identified within the site boundaries but a starling was noted
nesting in a feature on the western aspect of Unit 8 during May 2018. Works to this area of the
building must avoid the nesting season (which is March — August, inclusive) and nest boxes will be
provided to compensate for the loss of this nest site.’

The recommendation to avoid works to the area of the building known to support nesting starling
during the breeding season for birds is supported. Whilst | appreciate that the Phase 1 report
identifies limited suitable vegetative habitat for nesting birds, there may be potential for further
scrub growth prior to the commencement of works that could result in some suitable nesting
opportunities. Therefore, as per the recommendation with regards to Unit 8 and nesting birds, |
suggest a similar precautionary approach is adopted with respect of the clearance of scrub and
that this is avoided during the nesting season as far as reasonably practicable. Where scrub
clearance within the nesting season is necessary, the absence of active nests should be confirmed
by a suitably qualified and experienced ecological consultant immediately prior to the proposed
clearance, or within the preceding 24 hours if this is not possible. The Phase 1 report stipulates
what should be undertaken in the event that any active nests/nests under construction arefound.

Compliance with this precautionary approach and the measures set out within the Phase 1
report with respect of nesting birds should be ensured by means of the condition stipulated
under the respective heading below.

Given that the proposed works will result in the loss of a starling site nest site, as indicated in the
extract above, it has been proposed within the Phase 1 report to install three starling nest boxes
on the western aspect of the extension to Unit 8. This is welcomed; however, it appears that none
of the submitted plans accompanying the application or within the Phase 1 report illustrate the
incorporation of the proposed nest boxes within the built design. Therefore, a site plan that shows
the intended location of the proposed nesting provision should be secured by means of the
planning condition set out below so that incorporation of these features forms an
enforceable part of the planning permission.

Badgers - With regards to the potential for the application site to support badger setts or be utilised
by badger for foraging or movement across/through the site, the Phase 1 report states: ‘No setts,
latrines, snuffle holes or animal pathways were found within the site boundaries or in the field to
the west to indicate that badgers are present at this site.” Nonetheless, a precautionary approach
and suitable mitigation measures are proposed within the Phase 1 to safeguard badgers and other
animals during the construction phase of the proposed development, and this is supported.
Compliance with these measures should be ensured by means of the condition set out
below which | request be attached to the planning permission.

Great Crested Newts (GCN) - The updated Phase 1 report contains full details of the GCN survey
method, results and assessment, as well as a proposed mitigation strategy. The approach to
survey for GCN has comprised a Habitat Suitability Index (HSI) assessment of ponds identified
within a 500m search parameter from the application site boundary. This is in line with good
practice survey guidelines and standing advice from Natural England (NE) regarding the scope of
assessment required to inform the collation of ecological baseline data to be used to accompany
planning applications. It is noted that the application site does not contain any potential aquatic
habitat for GCN.

The information presented in the Phase 1 report demonstrates that reasonable steps were taken
to gain access to all ponds within 500m of the application site in order to conduct HS| assessments

Page 30



and determine which ponds required targeted pond survey for the purposes of establishing the
presence/likely absence status of GCN. Only access to the ponds referred to within the Phase 1
report as Pond 1 - 4 was permitted initially and as such these ponds were assessed on 14" March
2018; this therefore allowed sufficient time to commence targeted pond surveys within the
appropriate survey season and in accordance with good practice survey guidelines. With regards
to other ponds within 500m, the Phase 1 report explains that: ‘Access to the ponds in gardens to
the north of the site (ponds 5-8) was only agreed on 18th May 2018 and these ponds were
assessed against the HS/ criteria on this date.’

A pond survey entailing three techniques in line with survey guidelines, comprising bottle trapping,
torching and egg searching, was undertaken for Ponds 2 - 4 during the optimal survey period. An
environmental DNA (eDNA) survey was also conducted for Ponds 2 and 3 which entailed collecting
water samples from the ponds on 28th April 2018 foranalysis.

It is recognised that presumably in order to address the issue of late access to Ponds 5 — 8, which
evidently precluded the possibility of surveying these ponds using the three survey techniques
aforementioned, eDNA survey of these ponds was undertaken instead. The Phase 1 report
stipulates: ‘Water samples were taken from two garden ponds (ponds 5a and 7) to the north of the
site on 18th May 2018.’

The results of the pond survey and eDNA survey presented in the Phase 1 report were as follows:
‘The results of bottle trapping, torchlight surveys and egg searches of ponds 2-4 identified a small
population of great crested newts in pond 4 and no great crested newts in ponds 2 and 3. The
negative results for ponds 2 and 3 were confirmed through eDNA tests of these waterbodies...
...Environmental DNA (eDNA)

Ponds 5-8 were assessed by the surveyor on 18th May 2018 and eDNA tests of these ponds were
carried out. It had not been possible to gain access to these ponds before this date and so the
results for these ponds indicate presence/absence only and do not give an indication of population
size. Ponds 5a and 5b are negative for great crested newts and pond 7 tested positive for great
crested newts. eDNA tests were not conducted on ponds 6 and 8 as great crested newts were
visible in the ponds at the time the surveyor visited site.’

It is deemed that the scope of survey, method and survey timing is in accordance with industry
best practice and species-specific survey guidance and is compliant with NE standing advice for
survey parameters for GCN assessment. Likewise, necessary and reasonable steps were taken
to gain access to all ponds within the 500m survey parameter with the aim of obtaining
comprehensive ecological baseline data, and that the use of eDNA survey for those ponds whereby
access was granted late in the survey season was a sensible approach to at least provide
presencel/likely absence data in lieu of a full pond survey and population size class assessment;
the latter being required if GCN are found to be present. Therefore, a sufficient level of ecological
baseline data that is up to date and valid to support this application (data validity qualified later on)
has been provided to the Council to enable a suitably informed response to the application from
an ecological stance, and to in turn inform the planning decision.

The HSI assessment, pond survey and eDNA survey were conducted between March and May
2018. The updated Phase 1 report was produced in September 2019 and was informed by a site
visit; the report states: ‘The update survey on 5th September 2019 included an update walkover
survey of the development site, including a building inspection for bats of Unit 8. Ponds 1-4 were
visited to assess any change to the potential of these waterbodies to support great crested newts
during the breeding season.’

In terms of whether the ecological conditions at the application site were considered to have

materially altered since the Phase 1 habitat survey, bat survey and GCN survey were carried out
in 2018, the Phase 1 report stipulates: ‘At the time of the update survey carried out in September

Page 31



2019 the terrestrial habitat the site supports continued to provide suitable habitat for great crested
newts, including for hibernation. The condition of ponds 1-4 was similar to that recorded during
2018 and so the results of the surveys carried out between March and May 2018 are still considered
to be accurate and reliable.’

The update Phase 1 report includes recent photographs and accompanying information and
descriptions, and it is considered that the updated assessment of the terrestrial habitats within the
application site, and of the aquatic habitat off-site, are sound. With regards to the assessment,
conclusions and recommendations pertaining to GCN presented in the Phase 1 report, it states:
‘The grass and scrub in the field immediately to the west of Unit 8, where the new extension is
proposed, supports suitable terrestrial habitat for great crested newts, including hibernation
opportunities in the earth bank. Surveys of ponds within 500m of the site have identified a
population of great crested newts in some of these ponds and peak counts suggest that this is a
“small” population (although there is anecdotal evidence that the population in pond 6 is a “‘medium”
population).

Under the proposals for this site, the extension to Unit 8 and associated parking/turning will result
in the loss of 0.1Ha of terrestrial habitat for great crested newts within 100m of their breeding
ponds. Due to the proximity of the development to ponds where great crested newts are known to
be present, and the excellent habitat connectivity between the pond and the site, an offence is
likely to be committed if development work is carried out without a licence from Natural England.
This has been assessed using the Rapid Risk Assessment Tool provided by Natural England... It
will be necessary for great crested newts to be excluded from the development area before any
works commence and the exclusion will have to be carried out under licence from Natural England.’

It is considered that the above constitutes a sound assessment in accordance with industry best
practice, species specific survey and mitigation guidelines and NE standing advice. | concur with
the outcome of the rapid risk assessment, and the conclusion that a mitigation licence will need to
be obtained from NE in order to permit the works to proceed lawfully by means of a legal derogation
from the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).

A GCN mitigation strategy, which will entail an exclusion and translocation exercise, is presented
within the Phase 1 report. In terms of the time of year that the exclusion and translocation
programme would need to take place, the report states: ‘Exclusion and drift fencing and pitfall
traps will be installed when newts are active and trapping will be carried out when newts are
active, at a time of year when frosts or extended periods of dry weather are not anticipated.’
Whilst this is correct, a more prescriptive stipulation with respect of the active season and the
period over which the works will be scheduled is needed and will be necessary for the purposes
of the mitigation licence application, and to inform the applicant and their works schedule. This is
necessary as the exclusion fencing/pitfall trap installation and subsequent trapping and
translocation programme will need to be implemented in advance of other site works to ensure
GCN are not present within the works footprint when development commences. NE standing
advice stipulates that capture and release methods for the purposes of reducing the potential for
GCN to be killed, disturbed or injured should entail capturing GCN during the active season,
between February and October.

In terms of the proposed duration of the exclusion and translocation period, the report sets out the
following approach: ‘As the site is understood to support a small population of great crested newts,
a minimum of 30 trapping nights will be required...If great crested newts are still being trapped
towards the end of the 30 trapping nights Natural England will be contacted to request an extension
to the licence and trapping will continue until there are five clear trapping nights.’

Given the albeit unverified anecdotal evidence of a medium GCN population at Pond 6, which is
acknowledged in the Phase 1 report, and the fact that only presence/likely absence status was
established for Ponds 6, 7 and 8 rather than a population size estimate, it may be prudent to
consider working on the basis that a minimum of 60 trapping nights would be needed in accordance

Page 32



with the approach for trapping of a medium population as set out in the GCN mitigation guidelines
and NE standing advice, and to complete the mitigation licence application accordingly. This may
also be a more realistic timeframe for the purposes of informing the overall works schedule and |
would suggest this is given consideration by the ecological consultant and applicant.

The approach to GCN mitigation presented in the Phase 1 report states: ‘Animals trapped during
exclusion work will be released on the off-site side of the exclusion fence. There will be sufficient
terrestrial habitat for great crested newts in the field to the west of the development site when
construction works are completed to retain the population in-situ.’

The strategy proposes to translocate GCN, and likewise any reptiles encountered (as discussed
earlier), to the field immediately west of the application site, however the receptor site has not been
delineated on Figure 24 or any other plan submitted alongside the mitigation strategy. The Site
Location Plan appears to indicate that the proposed receptor site lies within the land ownership
boundary of the applicant, however this has not been clearly annotated on the plan or denoted in
an associated key, and therefore confirmation should be provided by the applicant that they own
this land. The Council will also need to be fumished with information to demonstrate that the
proposed receptor site will be maintained and managed as suitable habitat for GCN and reptiles in
the long term.

In addition, Figure 24 in the Phase 1 report indicates that three hibernacula are proposed to the
immediate north of the proposed exclusion fence location, and the report states: ‘Habitat piles will
be created in quiet areas of the site to the north of the new extension, close to the ponds in the
gardens to the north. Artificial hibernacula can be created from dead wood, rubble and other
materials used during construction...’ It is assumed that these features are proposed as permanent
refuge/hibernation features to serve as compensation in part (a replacement earth bund is also
proposed) for the loss of the existing earth bund, and as such these features will need to be retained
and available for GCN/reptiles in perpetuity. Furthermore, the construction of the hibernacula
should be undertaken in advance of the exclusion and translocation exercise, particularly if the
aforementioned proposed habitat features are intended to serve as suitable refuge areas in which
to release any GCN that have been captured within the exclusion area, as is assumed to be the
case. The approach set out in the Phase 1 report doesn’t appear to stipulate when the hiberacula
will be created in relation to the capture and translocation exercise and this will need to be
addressed.

It is also noted that the hibernacula are proposed in close proximity to the exclusion fencing and |
would highlight that the works required to install the fencing should not encroach upon or
compromise the structure of the hibernacula. In addition, the close proximity of the proposed
hibemacula to the northern extent of the proposed exclusion fence line may increase the risk that
translocated GCN/reptiles could re-enter the exclusion area if there were to be any breaches of the
fencing that are not immediately repaired. Therefore, it would be prudent to consider adjusting the
proposed location for the hibernacula with a view to increasing the distance from the exciusion
fencing whilst ensuring that a location still close to Ponds 6, 7 and 8 is selected; perhaps within the
northwest section of the field.

To address these issues, it is requested that a condition requiring the submission of a
finalised GCN mitigation strategy prior to the commencement of works, is included within
any planning permission granted. The finalised strategy should clearly show the proposed
receptor area on a site plan showing its location in relation to the exclusion area. The positioning
of the hibernacula should be reviewed in light of the comments above and adjusted accordingly
where feasible on an amended plan. The strategy should include a schedule of activities indicating
the order and approximate timing of mitigation works and stipulate when capture and translocation
will take place i.e. the period comprising the active season; and specifying the timeframe for
creation of hibemacula in advance of the translocation of GCN and reptiles. The finalised strategy
should also address the other issue raised earlier in this response regarding the advice to consider

Page 33



a minimum 60 trapping night period rather than 30. The strategy should also clearly specify when
supervision by and/or input from a suitably licensed, qualified and experienced ecological
consultant will be undertaken and required.

- On account of the potential for the proposals put
forward within this application to potentially affect the European protected species (EPS) Great
crested newt, and the need for acquisition of a mitigation licence from NE, the application must be
considered with regard to the three licensing or ‘derogation tests’ set out in Regulation 55 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) (referred to hereafter as
‘the Habitats Regulations 2017’). The three tests that must be satisfied to enable NE to grant a
license are as follows:

e Regulation 55(2)(e): [the activity to be licensed] must be for the purpose of preserving public
health or public safety or other imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those
of a social or economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the
environment;

e Regulation 55(9)(a): there [must be] no satisfactory alternative; and

e Regulation 55(9)(b): the action authorised will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the
population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their naturalrange.

In this particular case, it is deemed that the Council has been provided with sufficient information
to facilitate an assessment of the potential effects of the development proposals upon GCN, and
whether those effects can be suitably mitigated. The Council’s ecology team has also been
provided with adequate information to demonstrate what measures can be put in place to satisfy
Regulation 55(9)(b), and to inform a judgement regarding whether a EPS mitigation licence would
likely be forthcoming from NE in regards to the ‘favourable conservation status’ test. Nonetheless,
as also highlighted by the Council’s ecology team in relation to 18/04589/FUL, the planning
officer will need to consider whether sufficient evidence has been provided to demonstrate
that the application will satisfy the ‘imperative reasons of overriding public interest’ or
‘IROPI' test (Regulation 55(2)(e)) and the ‘no satisfactory alternative’ test (Regulation
55(9)(a)). If evidence to demonstrate that these two tests can be satisfied is considered to
be lacking, the planning officer should request further information be provided by the
applicant or their agent/planning consultant.

In respect of the assessment of the potential effects upon GCN, it is considered that the
development proposals could result in the contravention of the Habitats Regulations in the absence
of suitable mitigation and compensation and a EPS mitigation licence. This is on account of the
loss of and/or damage to terrestrial habitat within 100-250m of GCN breeding ponds that support
a small, potentially albeit unverified, medium population, and the accompanying risk of injury to
and/or killing of, any animals using that habitat. Nonetheless, the implementation of the mitigation
and compensation measures proposed within the Phase 1 report including three hibernacula, and
the creation of a replacement earth bund which will be planted with native trees and shrubs, and
sown with a wildflower grassland mix, can reasonably be expected to offset the potential loss of
the existing earth bund. Moreover, the existing earth bund comprises a relatively small area of
terrestrial habitat in comparison to other suitable habitat which is also present with the 250-500m
range that GCN will disperse over from their breeding ponds, and which also have connectivity
with Ponds 6, 7 and 8. In addition, it is understood that the existing earth bund to be lost, constitutes
a relatively recent feature, and the description in the Phase 1 report of the scrub and vegetation on
the bund suggests a lack of structure and maturity.

The main issue appears to be the proximity of the existing bund to Ponds 6, 7 and 8 and the risk
of injuring and/or killing any GCN that may be using the bund and surrounding habitat during the

Page 34



proposed works, rather than pertaining to the loss of significant areas of habitat. This is considered
especially likely given that the proposals indicate the vegetation aligning the northern boundary of
the field west of Unit 8 will be retained and therefore still available to GCN. This vegetated field
boundary lies in closer proximity to Ponds 6, 7 and 8 than the existing earth bund, and a review of
aerial imagery indicates that it affords suitable terrestrial habitat for GCN. Furthermore, the
vegetation along the northern boundary of the field has connectivity with the hedgerow delineating
the western boundary of the field, and this will also be unaffected by the proposed development.
These field boundaries will therefore continue to be available as foraging/refuge/hibernation
habitat, and to function as a potential dispersal route facilitating movement of GCN from their
breeding ponds through the landscape.

Thus, on the basis that the mitigation and compensation measures submitted to the Council for
consideration are strictly adhered to, it is assessed that the development proposals will not
detrimentally affect the conservation status of the species. It follows, therefore, as per the
conclusion also put forth in the Council’s ecology team response to application 18/04589/FUL, that
the third licensing test can be met, and that the favourable conservation status of GCN can be
maintained, subject to securing the mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures
proposed within the Phase 1 report and LVIA, by means of the condition set out under the
respective heading below.

Concluding Comments - It is deemed that a suitable level of ecological information has been
submitted to the Council to inform the determination of the planning application, and that an
appropriate and robust approach to assessment and mitigation has been undertaken in line with
industry best practice and good practice survey guidelines. It should be noted that | objected to
application 17/05785/FUL in 2017 that formed the sole reason for refusal of that application. As
such, the current application has been reviewed with due regard to the comments | provided in
relation to the aforementioned application, with a view to ensuring that the current application
addresses all previous concerns; an approach also adopted by my colleague during the review of
application 18/04589/FUL in 2018. Furthermore, application 18/04589/FUL was not subject to an
objection from the ecology officer, and the current application does not significantly differ in scope
from that application.

On the basis that the proposed development is undertaken in strict accordance with mitigation
measures proposed within the submitted ecology reports in respect of GCN and other protected
species that are known to occur, or have potential to occur at the application site, including reptiles
and nesting birds, and that a GCN mitigation licence is obtained from Natural England, it is deemed
that the application does not contravene the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 or
Core Policy 50 (CP50) of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (adopted January 2015). The development
can proceed without contravention of relevant wildlife legislation, primarily the Habitats Regulations
2017 and Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), providing a GCN mitigation licence is
obtained from Natural England prior to commencement of development works and the consented
mitigation strategy is strictly adhered to; and the planning conditions set out below arefulfilled.

Furthermore, the proposed replacement earth bund, to be planted with native trees and shrubs and
sown with a wildflower grassland mix as indicated in the LVIA, together with the ecological
compensation and enhancement measures proposed within the Phase 1 report, including
hibemating and refuge habitat for GCN and reptiles, and nesting provision for birds, should provide
a gain for biodiversity in the longer term.

As is the duty of the local planning authority’s ecology team, the application has been considered
with respect of the third licensing or ‘derogation test’ under the Habitats Regulations 2017, and it
is judged that Natural England would likely grant a mitigation licence to allow the works to proceed
lawfully. It should be noted that a EPS mitigation licence will not be granted by Natural England
until planning permission has been given and all relevant planning conditions have been
discharged.

Page 35



- An updated Extended Phase 1 habitat survey was
undertaken in September 2018 to verify that ecological conditions within the application site, and
at the ponds within 500m, had not substantially or materially altered since the 2018 ecological
surveys. This updated report served to augment the data collated and submitted in 2018.

A letter has been submitted to the Council by Stark Ecology Ltd (Stark Ecology Ltd, 24" October
2019) which provides a rationale for the caveat stipulated in the ecology reports regarding the
report being valid for twelve months. This is a common and prudent caveat placed on ecological
reports by most consultancies for the reasons clearly specified within the aforementioned letter.
The letter also highlights that the twelve-month validity period relates to the report itself to ensure
it isn’t used in perpetuity, rather than pertaining to the validity of the survey data contained therein.

The letter also specifies: ‘Survey data is often considered valid and reliable for longer than 12
months and, in the case of survey data for great crested newt population assessment, is considered
to be reliable and valid for a period of at least 2 years when applying for a Natural England great
crested newt mitigation licence. Update population assessment surveys might be recommended
sooner where ecological conditions have changed significantly, but where ponds and terrestrial
habitat remain in the same or a similar state to that when the original surveys were carried out,
update population assessment surveys would not be recommended.’

The timeframe over which ecological survey data submitted in support of planning applications can
be considered as valid by local planning authorities is not defined in legislation. Therefore, the
approach adopted at Wiltshire Council is that ecological data submitted in support of planning
applications is generally considered valid for a maximum of two years. However, there are
instances whereby ecological data may be considered invalid or ‘out of date’ before two years
lapses, such as when there have been material changes to conditions at the application site or
within the potential zone of influence, and in these cases the Council’s ecology officer will use
professional judgement to determine whether the submission of updated ecological survey data
will be requested.

The approach adopted by the Council’'s ecology team, and the period of time that ecological data
is deemed to be valid by the Council for the purposes of supporting planning applications accords
with guidance from the Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management (CIEEM)'
and industry best practice as set out in Section 8 of BS 42020:2013.

9.25 Given the Council’s ecologist's full and robust consultation response above, planning
officers argue that the application is acceptable and in conformity with Core Policy 50 and the
NPPF, subject to the recommended conditions.

9.3 Impact on Visual Amenity

9.3.1 In design terms, the proposed small extension would ‘sit’ alongside the already permitted
extension to Unit 9 which is under construction and that the proposed development would match it
in terms of design and materials. The elongation of the existing building and its detailed design are
appropriate for an employment building in this setting. The proposal would, therefore, comply with
CP57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy.

9.4 S106 Agreement Variations

9.41 Members are advised that the original application that application W/93/0116/OUT was
subject to a s106 agreement which was signed and sealed on 22 September 1994. A full copy of
the s106 is appended to the report. It is noteworthy to report that the s106 contained two restrictive
clauses which are reproduced below, that covenanted the owner to retain land edged in green —
which is the adjacent field (located to the west of Units 8 and 9 and to the south of No 29a and No

Page 36



30 Bath Road) in perpetuity for the purposes of providing sports and recreation (Clause 2a) and,
that all the units to be delivered in the business park pursuant to the 1993 outline were restricted
in terms of land use to B1 and B2 only (clause 2b). Officers submit that Clause 2a should be

discharged and Clause 2b to be varied.

2. The Owner covenants with the Council aa followe:-

a) The land edged green on the attached plan shall be
retained (:n* perpetuity for the purposes of providing

sporte and racreation

b) The land edged pink on the attached ©plan
shall ba uged solely for the uses contained within cClas
Bl and B2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Clapees)

order 1987 as written at the date of this Agreement

notwithatanding any modification or repeal thereof

Site Plan in the s106

9.4.2 Planning Practice Guidance paragraph 020 Reference |D: 23b-020-20190315 advises that:

Page 37



“Planning obligations can be renegotiated at any point, where the local planning authority and
developer wish to do so. Where there is no agreement to voluntarily renegotiate, and the planning
obligation predates April 2010 or is over 5 years old, an application may be made to the local
planning authority to change the obligation where it “no longer serves a useful purpose” or would
continue to serve a useful purpose in a modified way”.

The statutory provisions underpinning this guidance is set out within Section 106 A (6) of the Town
and Country Planning Act, 1990 which states that:

“Where an application is made to an authority [under subsection (3)], the authority may determine
(a)that the planning obligation shall continue to have effect without modification;

(b)if the obligation no longer serves a useful purpose, that it shall be discharged; or

(c)if the obligation continues to serve a useful purpose but would serve that purpose equally well if
it had effect subject to the modifications specified in the application, that it shall have effect subject
to those modifications.

9.4.3 Officers are aware that clause 2a associated to the aforesaid s106 was previously reported
to committee when application 18/04589/FUL was subject to member consideration. The 2018
committee report stated the following:

9.7 Section 106 Agreement

The application site is subject to a Section 106 (S106) agreement made in 1994 restricting
the use of the land to the rear of the estate (including the land proposed to be used for the
erection of the extension), to sports and recreation purposes. The land was historically used
until 1992 as a pnivate sports ground, ancillary to the use of the then adjacent works. The
Section 106 agreement made no provision for public use of the site for recreational
purposes. The then District Council subsequently sought to designate the land as recreation
space in the West Wiltshire Distnct Plan in 2004 but the Local Plan Inspector recommended
modifying the plan by removal of the proposed designation as it served no useful purpose
and there was a suitable public recreation facility close by This was accepted by the Distnct
Council. Subsequently, the District Council produced a Leisure and Recreation Development
Plan Document in 2009 that sets out existing sports and recreation facilities that should be
protected  This site was neither identified nor included in that plan. There are no planning
policies in the development plan that protects the site for recreation purposes

In view of this, and because the land has now not been used for sports or recreation
purposes for ¢. 25 years, the S106 no longer serves a useful purpose here

The recorded committee minutes for the meeting held on 17 October 2018 confirm that along with
the considering the key planning issues, members considered the aforesaid s106 restriction. The
minutes for reported application reference 18/04589/FUL record the following:

Following the public forum, Members requested to ask further technical
questions, which the Chaimman accepted. Further details were sought on:
whether a $106 was still active on the land which had been designated for
recreational use and the planning history of the property.

In response, it was noted that: part of the application site was subject to a S106
agreement, which was made in 1994, which restricted the site to sports and
recreational purposes. The Section 108 agreement made no provision for public
use of the site for recreational purposes. in 2004 the Local Planning inspector
recommended modifying the plan by removal of the proposed destgnation as it
served no useful purpose and there was a suitable public recreation facility
close by. This had been accepted by the District Council. Subsequently, the
District Council produced a Leisure and Recreation Development Plan in 2009
which set out existing sports and recreation facilities that would be protected.
The application site was neither identified or included in that plan. For these
reasons the S106 no longer served any useful purpose. It was also neted that
nat all of the planning history had been included (n the report, only the planning
history relevant to the application.

Page 38



9.4.4 Officers acknowledge that the October committee minutes do not detail the merits that
existed back in 1994 to explain the justification for securing the retention of the sports field. It is
however clear from accessing the Council's 2001-2014 aerial photographs that the “sports /
recreation use” was never maintained. At the 17 October 2018 western area planning committee
members were informed that the sports field allocation no longer served a useful purpose. Officers
continue to assert this view and submit that there are no justifiable grounds to continue with clause
2a and that it should be discharged from the s106 (and thereby necessitate a deed of variation) as
part of the determination of this current application.

9.45 It is also important to report that the case officer for application 18/04589/FUL failed to
reference clause 2b of the s106 which restricted the business park units permitted originally under
the 1993 application to B1 and B2 uses only.

9.4.6 Notwithstanding the previous oversight, officers have no objection to varying s106 clause
2b to allow for B8 uses as well as the B1 and B2 referenced uses, as B8 use classes are common
place within existing employment/business parks. Furthermore, it is relevant to draw reference to
Wiltshire Core Strategy Core Polices 34 and 35 which combine use classes B1, B2 and B8 together
as being complementary uses for employment business parks. Officers have no reason to object
to the proposed additional reference to B8 use being tied to the varied s106. Furthermore,
members are advised that in varying the s106, the associated site plan can be amended to
accurately reflect the site boundary of the business park (noting that the 1994 sealed copy is not
complete and in approving this application, the boundary of the business park should be extended
to include the extensions and any required external plant — but the bund to the west of Units 8 and
9 should be identified as being within the open countryside.

10. Conclusion (The Planning Balance) - This application proposal seeks to extend Unit 8 in
the same way as Unit 9 — which is nearing completion. The proposed development would be not
be demonstrably harmful to residential amenity or to the visual amenity of the area from the
extension itself due to the separation distance and from the proposed bund and landscape
mitigation. It is also argued that by removing the service road extension, the turning area and the
extemal building entrance on the northern elevation of the building facing No 29a, the potential
harmful impacts that led to the recent appeal being dismissed have been removed from the
application proposal; and, officers submit that the application satisfies the Core Strategy and NPPF
policy requirements.

Page 39



This application has also been carefully considered by the Council’s ecologist who reports that the
submitted surveys are valid and that the proposal would not cause adverse harm to protected
species.

If minded to approve this application, members are advised to agree to varying the 1994 sealed
s106 so that:

1. Clause 2a be deleted from the agreement as it has never been implemented and not
considered necessary in planning terms.

2. The B8 use is included within clause 2b (to become clause 2a)

3. The site plan is amended to accurately define the business park boundary.

RECOMMENDATION: Through taking into account all the material planning considerations
outlined in this report, it is recommended that the committee delegates and defers authority
to the Head of Development Management to grant planning permission subject to the
planning conditions and informatives listed below following the above referenced
variations required to the 1994 legal agreement being completed as summarised in
paragraph 10 above.

Conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the
date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:

Planning Design and Access Statement, Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, Drainage
Strategy Statement, Ecology Report (April 2018), Extended Ecology Survey (June 2018), Access
and Highway Assessment, Site Location Plan, Existing Site Plan, Proposed Site Plan, Existing
Ground Floor Plan, Proposed Ground Floor Plan, Proposed Elevation Plan, Proposed Drainage
Strategy Plan, Proposed Drainage Porous paving attenuation arrangement plan, Porous Paving
design system — all received 15 July 2019 and; the Updated Ecology Report (September 2019) —
received on 11 September 2019 and Additional Ecology Letter — received 24 October 2019.

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. No development shall commence on site, including vegetation clearance, site clearance,
boundary treatment works, building conversion and/or any demolition works, until a finalised Great
crested newt mitigation strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The strategy shall include and expand upon all the recommendations and measures
stipulated in the Discussion and Conclusions section of the Extended Phase 1 Ecological Survey
(Stark Ecology, September 2019). The strategy shall include comprehensive and final details of all
mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures to be implemented to avoid/mitigate and
compensate for potential direct and indirect effects on Great crested newts; and this shall be
illustrated on an accompanying site plan(s). The site plan shall clearly show the proposed receptor
area in relation to the exclusion area; and shall illustrate appropriate locations for the proposed
hibemacula. The strategy shall include a schedule of activities indicating the order and approximate
timing of mitigation works and stipulate when capture and translocation will take place i.e. the
period comprising the active season; and will specify the timeframe for creation of hibernacula in
advance of the translocation exercise. The finalised strategy shall propose a minimum trapping
night period; and shall clearly specify when supervision by and/or input from a suitably licensed,
qualified and experienced ecological consultant will be undertaken and required.

Page 40



Thereafter, development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved strategy, unless
superseded by the required European Protected Species Mitigation Licence, and with supervision
and input from a suitably licensed, qualified and experienced professional ecological consultant
and maintained as such at all times thereafter.

REASON: To ensure compliance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017
and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), and the NPPF 2019 and Core Policy 50
of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (Adopted January 2015); and to ensure appropriate and adequate
mitigation and compensation to safeguard Great crested newts.

4. No development shall commence on site including vegetation clearance, site clearance,
boundary treatment works, building conversion and/or any demolition works, a Landscape and
Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval
in writing. The LEMP shall include, but not be limited to including, the following:

a) Comprehensive finalised details of landscaping, planting including tree planting and grass seed
sowing, together with a planting schedule and specification, an accompanying landscape plan(s)
and details of ongoing management;

b) Details of the 5 year landscape maintenance schedule cited in the Landscape and Visual Impact
Assessment (Prepared by Brian Wooding CMLI, August 2019).

c) Details of all proposed ecological enhancement features including bird nesting provision and
habitat for Great crested newts and reptiles, with the proposed number and location of features
shown on a plan; together with details of the maintenance and monitoring arrangements for these
features;

d) Details of the proposed maintenance and management of the site and the mechanism for
securing the implementation of these activities.

Thereafter, the development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and the
site shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the measures set out in the approved
LEMP in perpetuity unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority.

REASON: To ensure that the proposed landscaping and tree planting is appropriate to the locality,
will be accommodated within the scheme layout and will serve a function for ecology and
landscape; and to ensure the appropriate maintenance and management of habitats that provide
a function in terms of landscape and biodiversity, and incorporation of features within the scheme
design and layout that will contribute to delivering biodiversity gain at the application site in
accordance with the NPPF 2019, Core Policy 50 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (Adopted January
2015) and Section 40 of the NERC Act 2006.

5. The development shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the Discussion and Conclusions
section of the Extended Phase 1 Ecological Survey (Stark Ecology, September 2019), the
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (Prepared by Brian Wooding CMLI, August 2019) and
Site Layout Plan (Drawing no. VL.2019/10/06, Rev. 19 August 2019).

The development shall also be undertaken in strict accordance with the pending finalised Great
crested newt mitigation strategy and Landscape and Ecology Management Plan once submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

The development shall be undertaken with liaison with, and supervision by a suitably licensed,
qualified and experienced professional ecological consultant.

REASON: To ensure that appropriate and adequate protection, mitigation and compensation for

ecological receptors including protected and priority species and their habitats, is implemented in
accordance with the NPPF 2019 and Core Policy 50 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (Adopted

Page 41



January 2015), and to ensure compliance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017, the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and Section 41 of the
NERC Act (2006).

6. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby
permitted shall match in material, colour and texture those used in the existing building.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity

7. The hereby permitted extension to Unit 8 shall not be brought into use until the bund as shown
on the proposed site plan and on page 18 of the Landscape Assessment, has been fully
completed on site.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity

8. All soft landscaping (comprised in the approved details of condition 4a) shall be carried out in
the first planting and seeding season following the completion of the bund; All shrubs, trees and
hedge planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage by vermin
and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, die, are removed, or become
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar
size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. All hard
landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the
occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the protection of
existing important landscape features.

9. No demolition, site clearance or development shall commence on site, and; no equipment,
machinery or materials shall be brought on to site for the purpose of development, until a
hedge/thicket Protection Plan and their protective fencing in accordance with British Standard
5837: 2012: “Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction -Recommendations”; has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and;

The protective fencing shall be erected in accordance with the approved details. The protective
fencing shall remain in place for the entire development phase and until all equipment, machinery
and surplus materials have been removed from the site. Such fencing shall not be removed or
breached during construction operations.

No retained hedgerow shall be removed, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any retained hedgerow
be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the approved plans and particulars. Any topping
or lopping approval shall be carried out in accordance British Standard 3998: 2010 “Tree Work —
Recommendations” or arboricultural techniques where it can be demonstrated to be in the interest
of good arboricultural practise.

If any retained tree/hedgerow is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies, another tree shall be
planted at the same place, at a size and species and planted at such time, that must be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

No fires shall be lit within 15 metres of the furthest extent of the canopy of any retained trees or
hedgerows or adjoining land and no concrete, oil, cement, bitumen or other chemicals shall be
mixed or stored within 10 metres of the trunk of any tree or group of trees to be retained on the site
or adjoining land.

Page 42



[In this condition “retained tree” means an existing tree which is to be retained in accordance with
the approved plans and particulars; and paragraphs above shall have effect until the expiration of
five years from the first occupation or the completion of the development, whichever is the later].

REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be considered
prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be agreed with the Local
Planning Authority before development commences in order that the development is undertaken
in an acceptable manner, to enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the retention of trees
on the site in the interests of visual amenity.

10. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or amending that Order
with or without modification), Unit 8 shall be used solely for purposes within Class B8 of the
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) (or in any
provisions equivalent to that class in any statutory instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order
with or without modification).

REASON: The proposed use is acceptable but the Local Planning Authority wish to consider any
future proposal for a change of use, other than a use within the same class(es), having regard to
the circumstances of the case.

11. No extemnal lighting shall be installed on site until plans showing the type of light appliance, the
height and position of fitting, illumination levels and light spillage in accordance with the appropriate
Environmental Zone standards set out by the Institute of Lighting Professionals: Guidance Notes
for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011; have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved lighting shall be installed and shall be maintained
in accordance with the approved details and no additional external lighting shall be installed.

REASON: In the interests of protecting protected species and the amenities of the area and to
minimise unnecessary light spillage above and outside the development site.

12. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or amending that Order
with or without modification), no windows, doors or other form of openings other than those shown
on the approved plans, shall be inserted in the northern or western end elevation(s) of the
development hereby permitted.

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity.

13. No materials, goods, plant, machinery, equipment, finished or unfinished products/parts of any
description, skips, crates, containers, waste or any other item whatsoever shall be placed, stacked,
deposited or stored outside of Unit 8.

REASON: In the interests of the appearance of the site and neighbouring amenity.

Informatives to Applicant:

The applicant is advised that the acquisition of a mitigation licence for Great crested newts from
Natural England is essential in order to allow this development to proceed lawfully, and that
planning permission does not override the statutory instruments in place that afford legal protection
to the aforementioned European Protected Species. It should also be noted that it will be the
applicant's responsibility to ensure compliance with the mitigation licence and to arrange an
application for any modifications to the licence, where applicable.

The applicant is advised that all British birds (while nesting, building nests and sitting on eggs),
their nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected under the Wildlife and

Page 43



Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. Planning
permission for a development does not provide a defence against prosecution under these Acts.
Therefore, removal of hedgerows, trees, shrubs and scrub (including bramble), or works to or
demolition of buildings or structures that may be used by breeding birds should take place outside
the breeding season, unless a suitably qualified and experienced professional ecological
consultant has undertaken a careful, detailed check for active bird’s nests immediately prior to
clearance of vegetation and confirmed absence. The breeding season is generally accepted to
comprise the period between 1st March and 31st August, however some species are known to
breed outside this period.

Page 44



| ?@ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 9 April 2019

by JP Tudor Solicitor (non-practising)

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
2019

Appeal Ref: APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228
Unit 8 Atworth Business Park, Bath Road, Atworth SN12 8SB

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Oliveford Ltd against the decision of Wiltshire Council.

e The application Ref 18/04589/FUL, dated 11 May 2018, was refused by notice dated
17 October 2018.

e The development proposed is extension to existing building (Use Class B8), extension to
service road, landscaping and associated works.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Procedural Matters

2. Although the original applicant has since vacated the appeal site, the
application and this appeal has proceeded on behalf of the freehold owner of
the business park, who has a relevant legal interest in the property.

3. An updated version of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework)
was published in February 2019, after the application was determined by the
Council. However, as the alterations are minor, it was not necessary to revert
to the parties for comment.

Main Issue

4. The main issue is whether the proposal would be in accordance with the spatial
strategy for the area, including with reference to its effect on the living
conditions of nearby residential occupiers.

Reasons
Spatial strategy

5. The Wiltshire Core Strategy (CS)! comprises a spatial strategy which aims to
achieve a sustainable pattern of development by directing development to
existing settlements. It does that through Core Policy 1: Settlement Strategy
(CP1) and Core Policy 2: Delivery Strategy (CP2). The settlement strategy
identifies 4 tiers of settlements: Principal Settlements; Market Towns; Local
Service Centres; and, Large and Small Villages.

! Adopted January 2015

Page 45



Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228

6.

10.

11.

It is proposed to extend an existing building, which forms Unit 8 at the Atworth
Business Park, on the edge of the village. Atworth is within the Melksham
Community Area and is defined in the CS as a ‘Large Village'. CP1 of the CS
says that development at ‘Large and Small Villages’ will be limited to that
needed to help meet the housing needs of the settiement and to improve
employment opportunities, services and facilities. Although the appeal site is
within an existing business park, it is outside the ‘limits of development’ of the
village. CP2 of the CS indicates that development will not be permitted outside
the ‘limits of development’ other than in circumstances permitted by identified
‘exception policies’ in the CS, which seek to respond to local circumstance and
national policy.

One of the ‘exception policies’ is Core Policy 34: Additional Employment Land
(CP34), which says that outside the Principal Settlements, Market Towns and
Local Service Centres, developments will be supported subject to two sets of
criteria, detailed at ‘i-iv’ and ‘a-e’. Each criterion within the first set (i-iv) is
followed by the word ‘or’, save for the last. That indicates that whilst it is
necessary for at least one of those criteria to be met, it is not necessary that
more than one or that all four are satisfied.

The Council takes the view that the proposal does not fully meet any of the
criteria, listed from ‘i-iv’. Both parties agree that criterion ‘ii’, which relates to
farming and food production, is not met or relevant. The Council’s view, in
relation to criteria ‘I’ and ‘iii’, is that the proposal does not seek to expand an
existing business on the edge of a larger settlement and does not relate to a
new or existing rural based business, as the unit is unoccupied with the
previous tenant having left during the course of the application process. It
says that the proposal is speculative, as there is no defined end user.

As the second reason for refusal in the Council’s decision notice refers to non-
compliance with criterion ‘iv’, I will address that aspect. I agree that a

proposal for a modest extension of one unit in a business park could not
reasonably be considered of such importance as to be 'essential to the wider
strategic interest of the economic development of Wiltshire.’ Therefore, 1 agree
with the Council on that point but, as stated above, there is no requirement in
CP34 for a proposal to meet all of the criteria listed from i-iv.

It seems to me that the most relevant criterion, in this case, is 'iii’, which
indicates that developments will be supported that ‘are for new and existing
rural based businesses within or adjacent to Large and Small Villages.’
However, the wording does not appear to indicate a requirement to identify a
specific business that is going to occupy the development or that a business
should already be in occupation. Moreover, the latter would be illogical as the
policy would equally apply to the construction of a new building. Therefore,
given that the development would be the extension of a unit, within an existing
business park, adjacent to a ‘Large Village’, the development would be ‘for new
or existing rural based businesses’. Accordingly, I consider that the proposal
satisfies criterion ‘iii’ of the first set of criteria.

In reaching that finding, I have considered the views of the Council and
representations from third parties, as well as the appellant, regarding the
interpretation of CP34 and its requirements. The supporting text to the policy
acknowledges that: ‘The evidence indicates that Wiltshire does not have land
available in the right location at the right time to meet business needs and this

nttps: f Ay oow. i /planming-inspectoraie

Page 46 ?



Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228

could result in Wiltshire losing business to other locations’.? As a result, CP34
broadly supports the delivery of opportunities for the provision of employment
land, in addition to that allocated in the CS, mostly within the Principal
Settlements, Market Towns and Local Service Centres but also, outside those
settlements, within or adjacent to Large and Small Villages, subject to
additional limiting criteria, at ‘a-e’.

12. The appellant has also drawn my attention to a planning permission relating to
Land North West of Dunkirk Business Park at Southwick.®> That proposal
related to the expansion of an existing rural business park, considered to be
closely related to a Large Village, with the addition of two units. The relevant
Council Officer’s Report has been supplied and compliance with criterion 'iii" of
CP34 was accepted. Whilst the Officer’s Report also refers briefly to supporting
evidence of demand for the type of units proposed, that does not appear to
have been integral to its analysis of whether the proposal complied with CP34.

13. In any event, the appellant in the appeal before me has presented a reasonable
level of evidence of demand for business units of the size proposed, as
evidenced in a letter from a commercial property agent*and other information
regarding interest from local businesses. Similarly, although I do not agree
with all of its conclusions, the Council Officer’s Report relating to the appeal
proposal recommended approval and found compliance with CP34.

14. Whilst I have found that, a criterion (%iii’) in the first set of criteria is met, as
required, it is still then necessary to consider whether the proposal meets the
second set of criteria in CP34 of the CS, listed from ‘a-e’. There, each criterion,
save the last, is followed by the word ‘and’, which indicates that all of them
need to be satisfied. The dispute between the parties centres on criterion ‘b’.
Criterion ‘b’ indicates that developments will be supported where, amongst
other things, they do not ‘detract from residential amenity’. 1 will consider
those aspects below.

Living conditions of nearby residential occupiers

15. The building and the associated service road would be extended to the west,
outside the existing boundary of the business park and into part of an adjoining
field, to the south of existing residential properties. The existing Class B8 use
for storage or as a distribution centre would not change, but it would take place
within an expanded building.

16. At present, vehicle movements associated with this part of the business park
take place behind or between the buildings comprising the existing units,
mitigating any effects on nearby residential properties. However, the proposal
would extend the service road, beyond the elongated building and the footprint
of units 6 and 7 and provide some additional parking spaces. The extended
building, with its increased capacity, could also increase the potential number
of vehicle movements, over and above that which serviced the unit in the past.

17. The extended service road would also incorporate a new turning head to enable
vehicle maneuvering, adjacent to a ‘goods in/out’ entrance and additional
parking spaces on the northern side of the building. According to the
appellant, the turning head would, at its closest point, be just 2 metres away

2 paragraph 6.9
318/06221/FUL
“Carter Jonas: Letter dated 30 August 2018




Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228

from the boundary of the rear garden of the dwelling at 29A Bath Road, the
nearest house. There is an existing thicket of vegetation to the south of the
garden boundary fence of that property, but a section of this would be
removed, reducing its depth, to accommodate the turning head.>

18. I had the benefit of assessing the proposal both from the appeal site and from
the garden of No 29A. The dwelling is located at the end of a quiet cul-de-sac,
well away from the main road running through the village. Whilst the house is
further away, the tranquil garden has patio and seating areas, including some
towards its southern boundary, adjacent to the turning head. The close
proximity of the turning head and service road to the garden would be likely to
result in noise and disturbance from commercial and other vehicles accessing
the appeal site and maneuvering in the turning head. There would aiso be
noise from vehicle engines and negative effects from vehicle fumes. That
would significantly disturb the peace and enjoyment of occupiers of No 29a,
when using their garden. It would also have some negative effects within the
house, especially during the summer months when windows or doors to the
garden are more likely to be open.

19. As part of the thicket would be removed to accommodate the turning head, any
protection that it could provide would be reduced. The position of the proposed
earth bund and associated planting would not assist in mitigating the adverse
effects of the turning area close to the garden. The occupiers of No 29A have
also strongly objected to the proposed development, principally because of
vehicle noise and fumes.

20. The Council’s appeal statement suggests that there would be negative effects
on occupiers of the dwelling at 30 Bath Road, albeit to a lesser degree.
However, as that property is to the north west and would be further away from
the service road and turning head, I am satisfied that the effects would not be
significant.

21. Although the appellant refers to the ‘limited number of vehicles that are likely
to be associated with this size of unit’, that is not quantified or evidenced in
any meaningful way and, given that the future occupier of the site is
unconfirmed, I do not find that submission persuasive. The appellant has also
suggested, at the appeal stage, the possibility of an acoustic fence to be
secured by condition, but limited details and little specific evidence about the
efficacy of such an approach has been submitted. Given the position of the
turning head there would also be little room for any additional planting.
Restrictions on delivery and despatch times were suggested by the Council’s
Public Protection Officer to be secured by condition, but such a condition could
not be too restrictive without potentially compromising efficient business
operations at the site.

22. Furthermore, standard restrictions on operating hours, such as during the day
and on Saturday mornings, appear to be based partly on an assumption that
residential occupiers are more likely to be out of the house or at work during
such hours, at least from Monday to Friday. However, that would not
necessarily be effective in preventing harm to, for example, retired occupiers
enjoying their garden or workers with less conventional working hours.
Moreover, Saturday mornings are a time when people are reasonably entitled
to expect some respite. Therefore, whilst I have considered if imposing

5Figure 3: Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (May 2017) prepared by Brian Wooding CMLI




Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228

conditions could make the proposal acceptable, given the close proximity of the
turning area to the residential garden of No 29A, I am not persuaded that they
would sufficiently mitigate the adverse effects.

23. I am aware that the application, which has led to this appeal, is a resubmission
of a previous proposal® refused for a different reason, relating to inadequate
information about effects on protected species. However, that application was
refused, and I do not have full details of the extent of the Council’s reasoning,
when considering that proposal with respect to effects on living conditions.
Although the Council Officer’s Report relating to the appeal proposal
recommended approval, the Council’s Planning Committee reached a different
conclusion, including with regard to the effects on the living conditions of
neighbouring occupiers. Therefore, whilst consistency in public decision
making is important, it is also important and legitimate for me to apply my own
planning judgement to this appeal proposal, based on the evidence before me,
relevant development plan policies and any other material considerations,
which is what I have done.

24. Therefore, I conclude that the proposed development would harm the living
conditions of nearby residential occupiers at No 29A, with particular regard to
noise, disturbance and fumes from vehicles. It follows, that the proposal
conflicts with the CS spatial strategy, set out within CP1 and CP2, as it does not
comply with criterion ‘b’ of ‘exception policy’ CP34. The proposal would also
conflict with paragraph 127. f) of the Framework, which seeks to promote
health and well-being and ensure a high standard of amenity for existing and
future users.

Other Matters

25. Whilst approval was given for a similar extension to the adjacent unit 97, that is
further to the south with its service road and parking area beyond. Therefore,
there would not be adverse effects from vehicles or any turning areas
equivalent to the appeal proposal.

26. A number of objectors have raised a range of issues, in addition to those dealt
with above, including effects on protected species. However, it is not
necessary for me to consider those other matters in detail here, as I have
dismissed the appeal on other substantive grounds.

Planning Balance and Conclusion

27. The CS and the Framework offer support for business and for a prosperous
rural economy. Framework paragraph 83.a) encourages the sustainable
growth of all types of businesses in rural areas both through conversion of
existing buildings and well-designed new buildings.

28. Paragraph 84 of the Framework says that: ‘Planning policies and decisions
should recognise that sites to meet local business and community needs in
rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements
and in locations that are not well served by public transport. In these
circumstances it will be important to ensure that development is sensitive to its
surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact on local roads and
exploits any opportunities to make a location more sustainable (for example by

617/05785/FUL
716/09685/FUL




Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228

improving the scope for access on foot, by cycling or by public transport). The
use of previously developed land, and sites that are physically well-related to
existing settlements, should be encouraged where suitable opportunities exist.’

29. The proposed development would offer some benefits, including an economic

30.

benefit in the provision of additional business and employment floorspace.
However, the appellant describes the scale of the extension as relatively
modest which would limit the extent of that benefit, relative to that already
generated by the existing unit. It is also suggested that the extension of the
service road and the turning head would improve the safety of vehicle
manoeuvres within the site. However, that could potentially be achieved by an
alternative proposal or design. Overall, those and other benefits associated
with the proposal do not outweigh the harm that I have identified to the living
conditions of nearby residential occupiers and the associated conflict with CP34
of the CS.

For the reasons given above, and having regard to all other matters raised, I
conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.

9JP Tudor

INSPECTOR

iitps: /fwww. gov. ui/planning-imspectorate

* page 50 °



To appreciate the present make-up of the business park, the applicant’s planning agent was
asked to provide an up-to-date account of the tenants which are listed below:

Atworth Business Park

UNITS1A & 1B INTERCONICS Electrical Board Manufacturers
UNIT 2 NYQUIST SOLUTIONS LTD Hardware & Software Engineers
UNITS3 &4 BRISTOL SOAP Soap Manufacturer

UNIT5 BRISTOL SOAP Soap Manufacturer

UNITS6 & 7 SKY INTERIORS Kitchen Installations

UNIT 8 VACANT B8 Tenancy Agreed Subject to FUL

Manufacturer and design valve &
UNIT9 LEAFIELD MARINE LTD inflation systems

Page 51



Page 52



Wiltshire Local

Development
Framework

g

ot

-——|[|T-I'|Df-_i9rﬂ-;'

|‘Il

Wiltshire Core Strategy

Adopted January 2015

NSRRI A S e

.
Sy

Wiltshire Council

= \Where evry I{:cl'. matlers




218

6.8

6.9

Start-up or incubator units should be supported by shared business infrastructure
relevant to the use class. Design and build options should also be considered and all

businesses should prepare green travel plans.

Research undertaken on behalf of the Wiltshire Military/Civilian Integration
Programme? has identified the value that Wiltshire’s significant military presence
brings to the local economy. However, changing requirements mean that a number
of MoD sites in Wiltshire could become surplus or due for release during the plan
period. The Core Strategy’s approach to the re-use of military establishments is set

out in Core Policy 37.

Core Policy 34: Additional employment land

The evidence” indicates that Wiltshire does not have land available in the right

location at the right time to meet business needs and this could result in Wiltshire
losing business to other locations where a more favourable business and regulatory
environment exists. Core Policy 34 therefore supports the delivery of opportunities

for the provision of employment land that may come forward in the Principal

Page 54



6.10

6.11

6.12

6.13

Settlements, Market Towns and Local Service Centres of Wiltshire, in addition to the
employment land which is allocated in the Core Strategy. These opportunities will
need to be in the right location and support the strategy, role and function of the
town, as identified in Core Policy 1 (settlement strategy) and in any community-led

plans, including neighbourhood plans.

A number of target sectors™ have been identified for Wiltshire in order to promote

the move towards a higher-value economy. These include:
* advanced engineering and manufacturing
* business services

* Bioscience

¢ environmental technologies
e food and drink
* |[CT and creative industries

e agriculture and land-based industries

tourism.

Proposals which support these target sectors will be supported providing they meet

the requirements of Core Policy 34.

Core Policy 34 aims to support the rural way of life through the promotion of
modern agricultural practices, appropriate diversification of the rural economy and
provision of broadband. The policy includes criteria to be met for proposals relating
to the retention or expansion of existing businesses within or adjacent to the Principal

Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service Centres and Large and Small Villages.

Core Policy 34 also includes an element of flexibility to allow new employment
opportunities to come forward outside but adjacent to the Principal Settlements,
Market Towns and Local Service Centres, and in addition to the employment land
allocated by this Core Strategy, where such proposals are considered to be essential
to the economic development of Wiltshire. It also allows for the possibility of
development essential to the wider strategic interest of the economic development
of Wiltshire. In considering criterion viii of Core Policy 34 any such proposals should
be supported by evidence to justify that they would not have a significant adverse

impact upon existing, committed and planned public and private investment at sites 219

Page 55



identified in the Plan for employment development at Principal Settlements or Market

Towns. Support for such proposals will be an exception to the general approach, and

any applications of this nature will need to be determined by the relevant plannin
Y app Y p g

committee (and not by officers using delegated powers).




6.14

Core Policy 35: Existing employment sites

Achieving the strategic
objective to deliver

a thriving economy
which provides a range
of job opportunities in
Wiltshire depends on
retaining the availability
of and enhancing
existing employment
sites, as well as creating
new opportunities in
appropriate locations.

The Core Strategy seeks

to protect Wiltshire’s

most sustainable and

valued employment areas by applying policies to favour employment uses on these

sites. On some of these employment areas there are strong redevelopment pressures

for other uses, notably residential and retail.

Page 57




Page 58



WEST WILTSHIRE DISTRICT COUNGTL,

end

BRAFMON HOLDINGS

AGREEMENT

Re Land at Atworth Business Park

S J Aley LL.B DiplG

Solicitor to the Councll

West Wiltshire District Councll
Bradley Road

Trowbridge

Wiltshire BA14 ORD

Page 59



Page 60



accegs to the bevolopment

IT Is AGREED AS FOLLOHS:=

1.

(1)

{ii)

THIS Agreement is made pursuant to Section 106 of the Act
vhich section shall apply to the covenants hereinafter
contained

The Owner covenants with the council as follows:-

a) The land edged green on the attached plan shall be
retained Jn* perpetuity for the purposes of providing

sporta and recreation

b) The land edged pink on the attached plan
shall be used solely for the uses contained within clas
Bl and B2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Claases)
order 1987 as writtem at the date of this Agreement

notwithstanding any modification or repeal thereof

In the interpretation of this Agreement (a) all references
to the owner shall where the context so admits be deemed
to include his successors in title and assigns and (b) so
far as the context requires S—— -

all references to the Owner in the singular shall
include the plural

worde importing the masculine gender shall include the

feminine and e =

(iil) the persons named as Owner (if more than one) shall be

treated as jointly and severally liable in respect of the
above covenant
The council covenants with the Oowner to register this

Agreement as a local land charge

Page 61



22 J'g,[«L/

THIS AGREEMENT is made the day of 1994 BETWEEN RODERICK DONALD

TIMBRELL-W“En% STEVEN ARTHUR ROGERS trading as BRAEMON

BOLDINGS of Abacus House, 1 Newlands Road, Corsham in the

county of Wilts (the owner) of the first part and WEST

WILTSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL of Counclil Offices, Bradley Road,

Trowbridge in Wiltshire BAl4 ORD (the Council) of the seecond

part

WHEREAS

(1) The council is the Local Plamning Authority for the 1land
hereinafter mentioned for the purposes of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and
Compensation Act 1991

(2) The owner is the estate owner in fee simple in possession
of the land (the Land) situate at Atworth near Melksham in
the county of Wilts and shown edged red on the
inset to the attached plan for the purposes of
identification only

(3) An application for planning permission has been made to
the Council dated the 1st day of February 1993 Reference
Number W93/0116 for the demolif. o‘Ta sports pavillion
and erection of a general industrial building and office
block on the land edged and marked red on the said inset
to the attached plan (the Development) on the Land

(4) The council have resolved to grant planning permission for
the Development subject to conditions set out in the
Schedule hereto provided that the Owner enter into an
agreement hereinafter contained and subject to tha owner
entering into a separate agreement with the Wiltshire
County Council if required by the said county Ccouncil with

regard highway visibility splays in connection with

Page 62



1.

The Council acknowledges receipt of £ 275.00 paid to the
Council by the oOwner herewith in consideration of the

preparation and cempletion of this Agreement

Nothing in this agreement shall prevent the parties from
agreeing to modify or vary the covenants contained in
Clause 2 above within five years of the date of this
agreement

SCHEDULE

Because this is an outline permission, granted under the
provisions of the Town and Country Planning General
Development Order 1988, the further approval of the Local
Planning Authority shall be obtalned, before any
development is commenced, concerning the reserved matters
relating to the development (siting, design, external
appearance and means of access) in respect of which
details have been given in the application. -

To ensure visula harmony with the surroundings of the
developmenta sample of the materials to be used in the
external walls and roof of thedevelopment shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority
before any work is commenced. —— — . =

To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the
development, the site shall be landescaped in accordance
with a landecaping scheme which shall be subject to the
prior approval of the Local Planning Autyhoity. The
approved gcheme shall be implemented in <the firet
appropriate planting season using trees and shrubs of

approved species and height and maintained thereafter for

Page 63



e e sripee ey

1 A3 Dxermme u ln chest ot e, A0 e 0 54 rpnd 0
B g ————

Dasim ey
oy oxy VR Avmm.

L T e ¢ Lot ]
Hppoyhes ¢l i

A Nal
: f

"

BALEMOD NOLIEI NBY
pLERPOMCY DRYrBEYY

sl vEEYE MDY
L}

=

1y iy

s

o B e |
o - el
E TR il o rh
- 1'?‘ i -
=
\

i

I‘i.“:

s.

——

rrfn mONN e -
P




a period of not less than flve years. Any trees and shrubsa
which fail within that period shall be replaced to the
satisfaction of +the Local Planning Authority and
maintained for a further period of five years.

4. To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure these
integral and essential featuras of the development are in
existence when they are needed, the parking spages, shewn
on the approved and certified plan,. teqop@qxﬁvy;th any
access thereto, shall be provided concurrently -with the

development to which they relate. -

5. In the interestas of highway safety visibility shall be
provided and maintained thereafter at a height of one
metre above road level at the entrance of the site onto
Bath Road, from a point 4.5 metres back from the
carriageway edge toc the boundary of the existing site
frontage. ......

IN WITNESS whereof the Owner has signed this agreement as a

peed and the council has caused its Common Seal to be hereunto

affixed the day and year first before written

SIGNED as a DEED A
VT
by the said RODERICK DONALD TIMBRELL-WHEFE

in the presence of:-

SIGNED as a DEED

by the said STEVEN ARTHUR ROGERS )

in the presence of;:-




THE COMMON SEAL OF WEST )
WILTSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL )
was hereunto affixed in the )

presence ofi- )

Member

solicitor to the Council

Page 66



| 9@ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 9 April 2019

by JP Tudor Solicitor (non-practising)
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 04 June 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228
Unit 8 Atworth Business Park, Bath Road, Atworth SN12 8SB

s The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

o The appeal is made by Oliveford Ltd against the decision of Wiltshire Council.

o The application Ref 18/04589/FUL, dated 11 May 2018, was refused by notice dated
17 October 2018.

o The development proposed is extension to existing building (Use Class B8), extension to
service road, landscaping and associated works.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Procedural Matters

2. Although the original applicant has since vacated the appeal site, the
application and this appeal has proceeded on behalf of the freehold owner of
the business park, who has a relevant legal interest in the property.

3. An updated version of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework)
was published in February 2019, after the application was determined by the
Council. However, as the alterations are minor, it was not necessary to revert
to the parties for comment.

Main Issue

4. The main issue is whether the proposal would be in accordance with the spatial
strategy for the area, including with reference to its effect on the living
conditions of nearby residential occupiers.

Reasons
Spatial strategy

5. The Wiltshire Core Strategy (CS)! comprises a spatial strategy which aims to
achieve a sustainable pattern of development by directing development to
existing settlements. It does that through Core Policy 1: Settlement Strategy
(CP1) and Core Policy 2: Delivery Strategy (CP2). The settlement strategy
identifies 4 tiers of settlements: Principal Settlements; Market Towns; Local
Service Centres; and, Large and Small Villages.

! Adopted January 2015

https://www.gov. lanning-in

Page 67



Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228

10.

11.

It is proposed to extend an existing building, which forms Unit 8 at the Atworth
Business Park, on the edge of the village. Atworth is within the Melksham
Community Area and is defined in the CS as a ‘Large Village'. CP1 of the CS
says that development at ‘Large and Small Villages’ will be limited to that
needed to help meet the housing needs of the settlement and to improve
employment opportunities, services and facilities. Although the appeal site is
within an existing business park, it is outside the ‘limits of development’ of the
village. CP2 of the CS indicates that development will not be permitted outside
the ‘limits of development’ other than in circumstances permitted by identified
‘exception policies’ in the CS, which seek to respond to local circumstance and
national policy.

One of the ‘exception policies’ is Core Policy 34: Additional Employment Land
(CP34), which says that outside the Principal Settlements, Market Towns and
Local Service Centres, developments will be supported subject to two sets of
criteria, detailed at ‘i-iv’ and ‘a-e’. Each criterion within the first set (i-iv) is
followed by the word ‘or’, save for the last. That indicates that whilst it is
necessary for at least one of those criteria to be met, it is not necessary that
more than one or that all four are satisfied.

The Council takes the view that the proposal does not fully meet any of the
criteria, listed from ‘i-iv’. Both parties agree that criterion ‘ii’, which relates to
farming and food production, is not met or relevant. The Council’s view, in
relation to criteria ‘I” and 'iii’, is that the proposal does not seek to expand an
existing business on the edge of a larger settlement and does not relate to a
new or existing rural based business, as the unit is unoccupied with the
previous tenant having left during the course of the application process. It
says that the proposal is speculative, as there is no defined end user.

As the second reason for refusal in the Council’s decision notice refers to non-
compliance with criterion ‘iv’, I will address that aspect. I agree that a

proposal for a modest extension of one unit in a business park could not
reasonably be considered of such importance as to be ‘essential to the wider
strategic interest of the economic development of Wiltshire.” Therefore, I agree
with the Council on that point but, as stated above, there is no requirement in
CP34 for a proposal to meet all of the criteria listed from i-iv.

It seems to me that the most relevant criterion, in this case, is ‘iii’, which
indicates that developments will be supported that ‘are for new and existing
rural based businesses within or adjacent to Large and Small Villages.’
However, the wording does not appear to indicate a requirement to identify a
specific business that is going to occupy the development or that a business
should already be in occupation. Moreover, the latter would be illogical as the
policy would equally apply to the construction of a new building. Therefore,
given that the development would be the extension of a unit, within an existing
business park, adjacent to a ‘Large Village’, the development would be ‘for new
or existing rural based businesses’. Accordingly, I consider that the proposal
satisfies criterion ‘iii’ of the first set of criteria.

In reaching that finding, I have considered the views of the Council and
representations from third parties, as well as the appellant, regarding the
interpretation of CP34 and its requirements. The supporting text to the policy
acknowledges that: 'The evidence indicates that Wiltshire does not have land
available in the right location at the right time to meet business needs and this

S://WWW.qov. ing-i i 2

Page 68



Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228

could result in Wiltshire losing business to other locations’.” As a result, CP34
broadly supports the delivery of opportunities for the provision of employment
land, in addition to that allocated in the CS, mostly within the Principal
Settlements, Market Towns and Local Service Centres but also, outside those
settlements, within or adjacent to Large and Small Villages, subject to
additional limiting criteria, at ‘a-e’.

12. The appellant has also drawn my attention to a planning permission relating to

13.

14.

Land North West of Dunkirk Business Park at Southwick.®* That proposal
related to the expansion of an existing rural business park, considered to be
closely related to a Large Village, with the addition of two units. The relevant
Council Officer’s Report has been supplied and compliance with criterion ‘i’ of
CP34 was accepted. Whilst the Officer’s Report also refers briefly to supporting
evidence of demand for the type of units proposed, that does not appear to
have been integral to its analysis of whether the proposal complied with CP34.

In any event, the appellant in the appeal before me has presented a reasonable
level of evidence of demand for business units of the size proposed, as
evidenced in a letter from a commercial property agent* and other information
regarding interest from local businesses. Similarly, although I do not agree
with all of its conclusions, the Council Officer’s Report relating to the appeal
proposal recommended approval and found compliance with CP34.

Whilst I have found that, a criterion (Vi) in the first set of criteria is met, as
required, it is still then necessary to consider whether the proposal meets the
second set of criteria in CP34 of the CS, listed from ‘a-e’. There, each criterion,
save the last, is followed by the word ‘and’, which indicates that all of them
need to be satisfied. The dispute between the parties centres on criterion 'b’.
Criterion ‘b’ indicates that developments will be supported where, amongst
other things, they do not ‘detract from residential amenity’. 1 will consider
those aspects below.

Living conditions of nearby residential occupiers

15. The building and the associated service road would be extended to the west,

16.

17.

outside the existing boundary of the business park and into part of an adjoining
field, to the south of existing residential properties. The existing Class B8 use
for storage or as a distribution centre would not change, but it would take place
within an expanded building.

At present, vehicle movements associated with this part of the business park
take place behind or between the buildings comprising the existing units,
mitigating any effects on nearby residential properties. However, the proposal
would extend the service road, beyond the elongated building and the footprint
of units 6 and 7 and provide some additional parking spaces. The extended
building, with its increased capacity, could also increase the potential number
of vehicle movements, over and above that which serviced the unit in the past.

The extended service road would also incorporate a new turning head to enable
vehicle manoeuvring, adjacent to a ‘goods infout’ entrance and additional
parking spaces on the northern side of the building. According to the
appellant, the turning head would, at its closest point, be just 2 metres away

2 paragraph 6.9
318/06221/FUL
4 Carter Jonas: Letter dated 30 August 2018

https: v.uk/planning-i r 3

Page 69



Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228

18.

19.

20.

21,

22,

from the boundary of the rear garden of the dwelling at 29A Bath Road, the
nearest house. There is an existing thicket of vegetation to the south of the
garden boundary fence of that property, but a section of this would be
removed, reducing its depth, to accommodate the turning head.’

I had the benefit of assessing the proposal both from the appeal site and from
the garden of No 29A. The dwelling is located at the end of a quiet cul-de-sac,
well away from the main road running through the village. Whilst the house is
further away, the tranquil garden has patio and seating areas, including some
towards its southern boundary, adjacent to the turning head. The close
proximity of the turning head and service road to the garden would be likely to
result in noise and disturbance from commercial and other vehicles accessing
the appeal site and manoeuvring in the turning head. There would also be
noise from vehicle engines and negative effects from vehicle fumes. That
would significantly disturb the peace and enjoyment of occupiers of No 29a,
when using their garden. It would also have some negative effects within the
house, especially during the summer months when windows or doors to the
garden are more likely to be open.

As part of the thicket would be removed to accommodate the turning head, any
protection that it could provide would be reduced. The position of the proposed
earth bund and associated planting would not assist in mitigating the adverse
effects of the turning area close to the garden. The occupiers of No 29A have
also strongly objected to the proposed development, principally because of
vehicle noise and fumes.

The Council’s appeal statement suggests that there would be negative effects
on occupiers of the dwelling at 30 Bath Road, albeit to a lesser degree.
However, as that property is to the north west and would be further away from
the service road and turning head, I am satisfied that the effects would not be
significant.

Although the appellant refers to the /imited number of vehicles that are likely
to be associated with this size of unit’, that is not quantified or evidenced in
any meaningful way and, given that the future occupier of the site is
unconfirmed, I do not find that submission persuasive. The appellant has also
suggested, at the appeal stage, the possibility of an acoustic fence to be
secured by condition, but limited details and little specific evidence about the
efficacy of such an approach has been submitted. Given the position of the
turning head there would also be little room for any additional planting.
Restrictions on delivery and despatch times were suggested by the Council’s
Public Protection Officer to be secured by condition, but such a condition could
not be too restrictive without potentially compromising efficient business
operations at the site.

Furthermore, standard restrictions on operating hours, such as during the day
and on Saturday mornings, appear to be based partly on an assumption that
residential occupiers are more likely to be out of the house or at work during
such hours, at least from Monday to Friday. However, that would not
necessarily be effective in preventing harm to, for example, retired occupiers
enjoying their garden or workers with less conventional working hours.
Moreover, Saturday mornings are a time when people are reasonably entitled
to expect some respite. Therefore, whilst I have considered if imposing

® Figure 3: Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (May 2017) prepared by Brian Wooding CMLI

fwww.aov, lanning-in r: 4

Page 70



Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/W/18/32 16228

23.

24,

conditions could make the proposal acceptable, given the close proximity of the
turning area to the residential garden of No 29A, I am not persuaded that they
would sufficiently mitigate the adverse effects.

I am aware that the application, which has led to this appeal, is a resubmission
of a previous proposal® refused for a different reason, relating to inadequate
information about effects on protected species. However, that application was
refused, and I do not have full details of the extent of the Council’s reasoning,
when considering that proposal with respect to effects on living conditions.
Although the Council Officer’s Report relating to the appeal proposal
recommended approval, the Council’s Planning Committee reached a different
conclusion, including with regard to the effects on the living conditions of
neighbouring occupiers. Therefore, whilst consistency in public decision
making is important, it is also important and legitimate for me to apply my own
planning judgement to this appeal proposal, based on the evidence before me,
relevant development plan policies and any other material considerations,
which is what I have done.

Therefore, I conclude that the proposed development would harm the living
conditions of nearby residential occupiers at No 29A, with particular regard to
noise, disturbance and fumes from vehicles. It follows, that the proposal
conflicts with the CS spatial strategy, set out within CP1 and CP2, as it does not
comply with criterion ‘b’ of ‘exception policy’ CP34. The proposal would also
conflict with paragraph 127. f) of the Framework, which seeks to promote
health and well-being and ensure a high standard of amenity for existing and
future users.

Other Matters

25.

26.

Whilst approval was given for a similar extension to the adjacent unit 97, that is
further to the south with its service road and parking area beyond. Therefore,
there would not be adverse effects from vehicles or any turning areas
equivalent to the appeal proposal.

A number of objectors have raised a range of issues, in addition to those dealt
with above, including effects on protected species. However, it is not
necessary for me to consider those other matters in detail here, as I have
dismissed the appeal on other substantive grounds.

Planning Balance and Conclusion

27.

28.

The CS and the Framework offer support for business and for a prosperous
rural economy. Framework paragraph 83.a) encourages the sustainable
growth of all types of businesses in rural areas both through conversion of
existing buildings and well-designed new buildings.

Paragraph 84 of the Framework says that: 'Planning policies and decisions
should recognise that sites to meet local business and community needs in
rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements
and in locations that are not well served by public transport. In these
circumstances it will be important to ensure that development is sensitive to its
surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact on local roads and
exploits any opportunities to make a location more sustainable (for example by

6 17/05785/FUL
7 16/09685/FUL

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 5

Page 71



Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/W/18/3216228

29.

30.

improving the scope for access on foot, by cycling or by public transport). The
use of previously developed land, and sites that are physically well-related to
existing settlements, should be encouraged where suitable opportunities exist.’

The proposed development would offer some benefits, including an economic
benefit in the provision of additional business and employment floorspace.
However, the appellant describes the scale of the extension as relatively
modest which would limit the extent of that benefit, relative to that already
generated by the existing unit. It is also suggested that the extension of the
service road and the turning head would improve the safety of vehicle
manoeuvres within the site. However, that could potentially be achieved by an
alternative proposal or design. Overall, those and other benefits associated
with the proposal do not outweigh the harm that I have identified to the living
conditions of nearby residential occupiers and the associated conflict with CP34
of the CS.

For the reasons given above, and having regard to all other matters raised, I
conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.

JP Tudor

INSPECTOR

J/WwWw.gov. ning-i r 6

Page 72



19/06790/FUL

4 e ’
8 Atworth Business park
Wiltshire Council s+womnusre
Atworth
Wilts

m =

SN12 8SB

1:1.250  @crown copyright and database rights 2014 Ordnance Survey 100049050 0

/

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 7b

REPORT FOR WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No.

Date of Meeting 18.12.2019

Application Number 19/07428/LBC

Site Address 2D Timbrell Street, Trowbridge Wiltshire BA14 8PP

Proposal Replace the Two First Floor Windows with uPVC of Similar
Appearance

Applicant Ernest Clark

Town/Parish Council TROWBRIDGE

Electoral Division Trowbridge Adcroft — Clir Edward Kirk

Grid Ref 385756 - 158351

Type of application Full Planning

Case Officer Russell Brown

Reason for the application being considered by Committee

The applicant is an elected Member of Wiltshire Council; and in accordance with the Council’s
Constitution and Scheme of Delegation if private applications are made by an elected Member
to which objections are received raising material planning considerations, the application will be
determined by Planning Committee rather than under delegated powers.

In this particular case, Trowbridge Town Council object to the application and therefore the
application must be brought before the Planning Committee for a decision.

1. Purpose of Report

The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the
development plan, national guidance and other material considerations and to consider the
recommendation that the application be refused.

2. Report Summary
The main issues discussed in this report are:

° The Principle of the Proposed Works
° Impact on the Character of the Listed Building
. Impact on the Fabric of the Listed Building

Town Council — Objects for the reasons set out within section 7 of this report
Third Parties — No public representations have been received for this application.

3. Site Description

The site relates to No. 2 Timbrell Street in Trowbridge, which is identified in the insert plan on
the following page, edged in red. The subject property is a Grade Il listed building that forms
part of a terrace of similar buildings, which are also listed as Grade Il.

Page 75



[ Sivee

s Vo
“ @?':@“3%%.‘"‘&. :
|

[ 200e%es % &5
5 s
| e
am e et

A\ A A2 \ W

The listed terrace is shown in hatching, with an arrow pointing to No.2

The building is built in red brick, three storeys with a rendered ground floor and stone window
surrounds and a stone arched front door. The building dates from the early 19" Century.
Number 2 has a pair of wooden sash windows on the ground and first floors and a single
wooden sash window on the second floor.

The terrace is broadly of similar appearance — red brick walling, stone window and door
surrounds, tiled roofs, brick chimneys — however there are architectural variations in terms of
their relative heights, roof types, round arched or square headed surrounds, sash windows in
pairs or as single windows.

This gives the listed terrace an interesting and visually articulated appearance of individually
detailed houses and shops that together become a coherent and handsome terrace.

The significance of the listed building, and the wider terrace, lies in the above points of historic
interest. Whilst the terrace has changed in parts — shopfronts being inserted for example — the
terrace still retains much of its original appearance. Many of the windows are not historic but
are traditional wooden sliding sashes nonetheless and thereby strongly inform the positive
historic character of the listed building and the terrace.

The front elevation of No 2 is contained within the yellow highlight below:




4, Planning History

W/81/01214/HIS - Change of use to residential of rear of ground floor and 1st and 2nd floors —
Approved

W/81/01332/HIS - Pet shop — Refused
W/82/00662/HIS - Change of use from shop to Pet Shop — Approved
W/86/00431/LBC - Creation of door in back wall for fire stairs and front door — Approved

W/86/00555/FUL - Change of use of upper floors to multiple residential accommodation (bed-
sits) — Approved

W/89/00044/LBC - Conversion of existing shop and four bedsits plus new building extension to
form five flats — Refused

W/89/00050/FUL - Convert shop to dwelling, convert house and cottage to 5 self-contained flats
— Refused

W/89/00689/FUL - Conversion of shop, 4 bedsits and cottage to 5 flats - Approved
W/89/00690/LBC - Conversion of shop, 4 bedsits and cottage to 5 flats — Approved

Other relevant planning history from other properties with the terrace:
W/91/01105/LBC - Replacement top hung windows in place of sashes for No.11 Timbrell Street
— Refused

W/02/00802/LBC - Internal alterations and new front door and window for No.10 Timbrell Street
— Refused

Note: This application proposed replacement of a wooden door and wooden window with
uPVC alternatives and was refused.

17/05278/PDENQ - Reinstatement of property on a like for like basis following fire damage for
3a Timbrell Street — Officer advice provided 21.06.2017

Enforcement Issues

As part of the appraisal of this application which included a site visit and engagement with the
applicant, separate enforcement cases have been created relative to unauthorised installation
of uPVC windows elsewhere within the listed terrace. For the avoidance of any doubt,
unauthorised works to listed buildings constitute as criminal offences; and formal enforcement

Page 77



investigations have been commenced for three properties in order to resolve the offences at
No’s. 5, 10 and 11 Timbrell Street.

5. The Proposal

This application proposal seeks to replace the two first floor wooden windows with uPVC
windows of a similar appearance. As the previous site photos reveal, the first floor of No.2 has
a pair of wooden sash windows within stone window surrounds. These windows are not historic
but are wooden sash windows that open in the traditional sliding manner.

The middle windows shown below are the ones subject to this application:

The proposal seeks to replace these wooden sliding sash windows with uPVC casement
windows that are noted in the application submission as being ‘of similar appearance’.
Casement windows open from the side or the top. Photographs have been submitted for the
‘as existing’ details.

The proposed details that have been put forward consist only of a written quotation letter from a
window installer. No proposed drawings have been put forward despite the case officer's
written and verbal requests.

There is therefore limited information submitted with this application in which to assess the
proposal. However, uPVC windows are intrinsically unacceptable for listed buildings as this
report will explain.

6. Planning Policy

The Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) - The following Core Policies (CP) are relevant when
assessing this application: CP57 (Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping), CP58
(Seeking the Protection, Conservation and, where possible, Enhancement of Heritage Assets).

Core Policy 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy states: “A high standard of design is required in
all new developments, including extensions... Development is expected to create a strong
sense of place through drawing on the local context and being complementary to the locality.
Applications for new development must be accompanied by appropriate information to
demonstrate how the proposal will make a positive contribution to the character of Wiltshire
through... being sympathetic to and conserving historic buildings”.

Page 78



Core Policy 58 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy echoes the above national policy in seeking the
protection, conservation and, where possible, enhancement of heritage assets.

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Section 10 states that an application for listed building consent shall contain—

“(a) sufficient particulars to identify the building to which it relates, including a plan;

(b) such other plans and drawings as are necessary to describe the works which are the subject
of the application; and

(c) such other particulars as may be required by the authority.”

Section 16 requires the Council to give special regard to the “desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses”.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Paragraph 192 of the NPPF states: “In determining planning applications, local planning
authorities should take account of:

e the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

ethe positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable
communities including their economic vitality; and

e the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness.”

Paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that “when
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage
asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. ... This is irrespective of
whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial
harm to its significance.”

Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that “Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction...), should require clear and convincing
justification.”

Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that “Where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal...”

The Historic England Guidance on Traditional Windows — Their Care, Repair and
Upgrading (Revised edition February 2017) is also of relevance (see also Appendix 1) which
states:

“The different appearance and character of PVC-u windows compared to historic windows is
highly likely to make them unsuitable for older buildings, particularly those that are listed or in
conservation areas... Their design, detailing and operation make them look different to
traditional windows. Manufacturers have been unable to replicate the sections/glazing bars
used in most timber and steel windows due to the limited strength of the material and the
additional weight of the secondary glazing units. False ‘glazing bars’ which are thin strips of
plastic inserted within the glass sandwich of a double glazed unit change the character of the
window.” (pages 6-7).

Page 79



7. Summary of Consultation Responses

Trowbridge Town Council — Objects. “Windows in PVC would be unsuitable in a listed
building. Only hardwood would be acceptable.”

8. Publicity

The application has been advertised in the press and a site notice was displayed on a post at
the front of the building. No third-party comments were received.

0. Planning Considerations

9.1 Principle of the Proposed Works and the Impact on the Historic Character of the
Listed Building

9.1.1 The principle of the works is unacceptable in terms of the resultant harm to the
character and significance of the listed building. uPVC windows and their acceptability for use
in listed buildings has been the subject of much debate and has resulted in guidance such as
that quoted in this report.

9.1.2 It is held that uPVC windows are unacceptable in listed buildings due to the
incongruous material, the large frame dimensions, the trickle vents, the false glazing bars and
the use of double-glazing.

9.1.3 In this particular case, the applicant has not submitted proposed drawings of the uPVC
windows. However, the shared quotation letter includes the following information:

Glass Top quality 28mm hermetically sealed units, argon gas filled, with toughened
safety glass to BS6206 where required. (A) Rated.

9.1.4 A 28mm sealed glazing unit would require large and heavy looking frame dimensions.
uPVC is a weak material when compared to wood and the added weight of the double-glazed
sealed unit would mean a frame dimension far in excess of the wooden equivalent.

9.1.5 Therefore, the proposed uPVC windows, with 28mm sealed units, would not be ‘of
similar appearance’ to the existing wooden windows. As an example, two images are produced
below to illustrate matters. On the left is the top left corner of one of the existing wooden
windows, on the right is the example window shown on the window installer’s website who have
submitted the quotation.

9.1.6 The left image' shows how slender the existing wooden frames are, even though they
themselves have double glazing. This maintains the historic character of the listed building and
that of the wider listed terrace.

Page 80



9.1.7 The right image shows the difference in frame dimensions for a uPVC window. The
uPVC frame is deep in profile and heavy in appearance and very different from the slender
traditional windows that mark this terrace and listed building. [NB. | reiterate that the right
image was not submitted as part of the application but is the example photo shown on the
installer’s website.]

9.1.8 The uPVC windows would result in harm to the character of the listed building by
reason that the large and non-traditional frame dimensions would be unsympathetic to that
historic character.

9.1.9 There is a visual integrity at present with all the windows being timber despite them not
being historic. They are traditional in terms of their dimensions, material and opening style.
The proposal would destroy that visual integrity by the insertion of unsympathetic uPVC
windows.

9.1.10 The proposed uPVC windows would appear as a purely plastic product. uPVC
windows do not have the appearance of painted timber windows. The material itself, as well as
the jointing details, has a very definite appearance such that it would not be mistaken for any
other material and therefore this would be incongruous within this listed building.

9.1.11 The existing windows are traditional sliding sashes and therefore follow the traditional
opening mechanism. This links these non-historic wooden windows back to the historic
character of the listed building and is a reason why the existing windows are considered to be in
keeping with the historic character of the listed building.

9.1.12 The proposed windows would be casement windows, meaning they would either open
from side hinges, or from top hinges. In either case this would result in harm to the character of
the listed building as windows of these proportions would traditionally be sliding sashes, not
casements. The appearance of having uPVC windows projecting from the window opening
when open would detract from the historic integrity of the listed building.

9.2 Impact on the fabric of the listed building

9.2.1 There would be no impact on the historic fabric of the listed building as the existing
windows are not historic.

9.3 Exploration of The Applicant’s Justification
9.3.1 Part of the justification for the proposed uPVC windows is that the existing windows
are resulting in water ingress and therefore damaging the property. It is also put forward that

energy efficiency is important.

9.3.2 The existing windows are fitted poorly, and it is unsurprising that water is getting into
the building.

9.3.3 The windows are fitted right at the back of the window reveal with no coherent sill
details:

9.3.4  The following photos shows the situation.

Page 81



Page 82



9.3.5 There is a beading on the inside of the windows so that they project into the room,
which is a clumsy detail that indicates that they were not fitted correctly when they were
installed. Therefore, there is a problem to solve and we wish to reach a satisfactory solution.
That said, the use of uPVC is not necessary to prevent water ingress and heat loss. New
timber windows could be made and fitted correctly, fully weather-sealed, that would prevent
water ingress and also enhance thermal efficiency over the existing windows.

9.3.6  Once properly fitted windows are fitted within the reveal, secondary glazing could even
be used behind if added thermal properties are required.

9.3.7 As noted earlier, the application submission highlights three instances of uPVC
windows being installed in this listed terrace. These have been found to be unauthorised and
enforcement investigations have begun to investigate these criminal offences. These
unauthorised windows do not set a precedent to justify further uPVC windows in the terrace.

9.3.8  The applicant also puts forward as justification a quotation from a letter dated 30/08/17
relating to a permitted development enquiry regarding the like-for-like replacements for, among
other things, the windows. This letter does not provide justification for changing the timber
windows to uPVC. The letter simply agrees that a replacement, not only in timber but on a
precise like-for-like basis, would leave the special interest of the building unchanged and
therefore not require listed building consent. It makes no comment on the merits of any other
possible course of action.

9.4 Other material considerations — Recent Appeals

9.4.1 In Bradford on Avon, applications 18/07003/LBC and 18/06995/LBC were submitted
following enforcement action against two properties in a terrace that had unauthorised uPVC
windows. These sought to replace these unauthorised uPVC windows with traditional wooden
sliding sashes. These applications were approved, and the traditional replacements have now
been installed, restoring the character of the listed buildings.

9.4.2 There was also an appeal in Trowbridge, following application 17/01683/LBC, against
a property with three unauthorised uPVC windows. The inspector found that the two uPVC
windows located in a 1950s/60s extension and largely hidden from view were acceptable, but
the unauthorised uPVC in part of the original building was harmful and he dismissed that part of
the appeal, noting:

22. I find these works to be the most obtrusive of the three. This is due to both the uPVC
single light and the detailing at the roof edges. The crude metal sheeting detracts
markedly from the appearance of this tiled roof as does the thick framing of the uPVC
window. The uPVC window detracts from the special architectural and historic feature of
the clay-tiled roof to the extension. It follows that I find this third window to be
unacceptable and that LBC ought not to be granted for its retention.

9.4.3 The window in the above appeal decision was located in the rear elevation of the listed
building and not easily seen. The windows in the current application are located in the front
elevation and are very visible so the harm would be greater than in the above appeal.

10 Conclusion (The Planning Balance) - The proposed uPVC windows would result in
less than substantial harm to the character of the listed building. This harm is deemed to be at
the upper end of the less than substantial harm scale due to the use of an incongruous material,
non-traditional opening mechanisms and the unsympathetic increase in the frame sizes of the
windows that would result in harm to the historic character and integrity of the listed building.

Page 83



This is contrary to Core Policy 57 and Core Policy 58 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and the
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework. NPPF paragraph 196 states that where
a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal. There are no public benefits that would result from this scheme and accordingly the
harm to the listed building has not been justified or mitigated.

11 RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the application should be refused
for the following reasons:

The proposed uPVC windows would result in less than substantial harm to the character of the
listed building. This harm is deemed to be at the upper end of the less than substantial harm
scale due to the use of an incongruous material, non-traditional opening mechanisms and the
unsympathetic increase in the frame sizes of the windows that would result in harm to the
historic character and integrity of the listed building contrary to Core Policy 57 and Core Policy
58 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.
In applying paragraph 196 of the National Planning Policy Framework there are no public
benefits that would result from this scheme and accordingly the harm to the listed building has
not been justified or mitigated.

Appendix:

Appendix 1: Historic England Guidance: Traditional Windows — Their Care, Repair and
Upgrading (Revised edition February 2017) extract (p. 6-7)

buildings, windows are small relative to wall
areas so the cost of double glazing will seldom be
covered by energy savings within the lifetime of
the insulated glazed units.

The thermal performance of traditional windows
can be improved significantly by draught-proofing

or secondary glazing. Further benefits can be
gained simply by closing curtains, blinds and
shutters - measures that can produce the same
heat savings as double glazing. Measures to
improve the thermal performance of windows are
described in more detail in Section 5 of this guide.

Why are plastic (PVC-u) windows
unsuitable?

The different appearance and character of
PVC-u windows compared to historic windows is
highly likely to make them unsuitable for older
buildings, particularly those that are listed or

in conservation areas. PVC-u is short for Poly
Vinyl Chloride un-plasticised and these windows
are assembled from factory-made components
designed for rigidity, thermal performance and
ease of production. Their design, detailing and
operation make them look different to traditional
windows. Manufacturers have been unable to
replicate the sections/glazing bars used in most

Page 84



Images 20-22

PVC-u windows stand out as they cannot match the
sections and proportions of historic joinery and slim
metal sections.

< < Contents

Images 23 and 24

Research has shown that houses in conservation areas
have added value and the retention of key elements
such as traditional windows contributes to this.

Page 85



timber and steel windows due to the limited
strength of the material and the additional weight
of the secondary glazing units. False ‘glazing bars’
which are thin strips of plastic inserted within the
glass sandwich of a double glazed unit change the
character of the window.

Repairs can be a major problem. Because of the
nature of PYC-u, complete replacement is often
the only viable option, which makes them a very
unsustainable solution when compared to timber
and steel.

The frames of PVC-u windows need cleaning
every six months to prevent discolouration
from dirt and ultra violet light. They also need
to be lubricated and adjusted annually and
weather-zeals and gazkets renewed at least
every ten years. Paints are now available for
some of the early varieties of PVC-u windows
that have since faded or discoloured.

Although recycling does exist for PVC-u

windows thiz is limited to waste sections left

over in manufacturing rather than for complete
redundant windows. Discarded windows end up in
landfill sites with the potential for releasing same
of the most damaging industrial pollutants.

Can replacement windows affect
property values?

Home impravements are big business, The
installation of replacement double glazed windows
closely follows new kitchens and bathrooms as
the most popular improvements, often in the
belief that such work adds value to a property.

Estate agents suggest that using poor facsimiles
of historic features can actually reduce the value
of a property. A survey of UK estate agents carried
out by English Heritage in 2009 showed that
replacement doors and windows, particularly
PVC-u units, were considered the biggest threat
to property values in conservation areas. Of the
estate agents surveyed, 82% agreed that original
features added financial value to homes and 78%
thought that they helped houses sell mare quickly.

This is a significant issue for homeowners,
particularly those in conservation areas, because
houses in these areas sell, on average, for 23%
more than houses elsewhere. This has been
shown by research carried out on behalf of English
Heritage by the London School of Economics
(Ahlfeldt, Holman and Wendland, 2012).

Page 86



. . i 19/07428/LBC
20 Timbrell Street
Wiltshire Council 20 Tmerel siree
e a————__ Wilts

BA14 8PP

. S \\

™,
R
,

; .,
Morks

N,
o fé) / —
rvey 100049050 &L A @

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Planning Appeals and Updates
	7a 19/06790/FUL - Land at Unit 8 Atworth Business Park
	19.06790.FUL - 8 Atworth Business Park - Location Plan

	7b 19/07428/LBC: 2d Timbrell Street, Trowbridge
	19.07428.LBC - 20 Timbrell Street Trowbridge - Location Plan


